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CORPORATE PROFILE
> Coast Capital Savings is Canada’s second largest credit union with $6.4 billion in assets, 300,000
members, and 42 branches located in the Fraser Valley and Lower Mainland and on southern Vancouver
Island in British Columbia. It was incorporated in 2000 as a result of a merger between Richmond
Savings and Pacific Coast Savings. In 2002, the new credit union merged with Surrey Metro Savings to
expand its geographic reach.
> The credit union’s subsidiaries include Coast Capital Insurance Services Ltd., U-Select Financial and
Insurance Services Ltd., Coast Capital Real Estate Ltd., and Coast Capital Investments. It also operates
two divisions offering commercial services and real estate appraisals.
> For more information about Coast Capital Savings and its subsidiaries, please visit our website at
www.coastcapitalsavings.com.
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How
> How can we help you? It’s the new story behind Coast Capital Savings. It’s our way of telling
you that we are embarking on a bold new journey. We are changing the way we do things today
to impact and sustain our business for tomorrow. Our first step in this process is to build our new
brand. How can we help you? represents an opportunity to bring together over 2,000 hardworking
employees from three successful credit unions and unite them under one single purpose — to help
our members and communities.
> Behind every Coast Capital Savings name tag is a dedicated individual committed to helping us exceed
members’ service expectations and achieve our ultimate goal of being an innovative and outstanding
corporate leader. In many ways, our employees are our true champions and Super Helpers. During times
of change, they are the first and most important contact with our members, and they help play a lead
role in strengthening our communities for the future.
> Coast Capital Savings’ heritage credit unions have built a wonderful history of helping our members
and communities from the first day that they welcomed members through their doors. Their histories
will carry on through Coast Capital Savings. The names Pacific Coast Savings, Richmond Savings,
and Surrey Metro Savings may have changed, but the very essence of what it means to be a credit union
and what our employees, members, and communities expect from this organization have not.
We are Coast Capital Savings — How can we help you?
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How can we help you?

can

We help our
dedicated employees
be the best that
they can be.

> We encourage our employees to challenge themselves, recognize their potential, and take
advantage of the opportunities available. Providing them with the training and experience to
achieve their goals, and rewarding them with the career of their choice is how we can help
our employees provide better service to our members.
> There are more than 2,000 employees at Coast Capital Savings, working at offices and
branches located in the Fraser Valley and Lower Mainland and on Vancouver Island. In
addition to our leading-edge benefits, we also offer them a compelling reason to work here
by proactively establishing programs to meet their personal and professional needs. Family
and stress management courses, programs promoting healthy living, and opportunities for
community involvement, are just a few of the many initiatives available for employees to
ensure they stay healthy and have balanced lives outside of their careers.
> We continue to work together as a team, especially through these changing times.
The business community has noticed our tremendous efforts, as we have again been
recognized as one of Canada’s 50 Best managed companies.

> Super Helper Bal Samra helps serve members better by taking advantage of available training programs.
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How can we help you?

we

We help provide
simple solutions to
our members’
financial needs.

> Whether they are looking for advice on purchasing a new car or home, saving for their
children’s education, or planning for their retirement, members look to us for financial help.
During our merger integration process, we introduced a number of products and services to
better serve our members.
> We look for ways to simplify our members’ banking lives and put them at the centre
of every decision we make. We know that without our members, we would not be the
successful credit union that we are today. By listening to them, we are ensuring our success
for the future.
> We are taking bold leaps with the way we do things to stay ahead of our competition and
remain relevant in our industry. Our members lead busy lives — they want us to harness
the power and convenience of technology, and maintain our personal touch through our
employees. We are doing both. The financial world is often a complicated one, and we value
the opportunity and privilege of being able to provide simple financial help to our members.

> Super Helper Lorna Williamson helps meet Trudy Bruce’s financial needs by providing her with simple financial help.
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How can we help you?

help

We help make
our communities
a better place
to live and work.

> With the merger of our three heritage credit unions, our geographic reach has grown to
include the Lower Mainland, Fraser Valley, and southern Vancouver Island. Coast Capital
Savings’ goal is to provide a consistent level of support throughout all our communities.
In 2003, we donated more than $2.1 million to community initiatives and sponsorships, and
offered scholarships to help support the education and training of our society’s future leaders.
> Our commitment goes much deeper than just presenting a cheque to a worthy cause. We
take a good look at how our contributions support our communities and see if there are other
ways that we can help enhance our financial contributions. A partnership with Coast Capital
Savings represents a solid commitment to improving the lives of those living and working in our
communities. We encourage employees to become involved and offer their time and expertise
to support exciting and much-needed events and initiatives at the local level.
> We recognize that our help goes a long way. Coast Capital Savings plays a key role in
encouraging other business leaders to share the rewards of their success by giving back to
their communities. We all have a vested interest in ensuring that our communities thrive
and remain vibrant for years to come.

> Youth Team Super Helper Allen Chen helps promote the Cops for Cancer fundraising initiative, which enabled
Angus Macdonald’s 12-year old son Jordan to attend Camp Goodtimes.

How Can We Help You?

7

How can we help you?

you

We help support
initiatives that
demonstrate our
social responsibility.

> Success at Coast Capital Savings means more than a great financial performance. It means
evaluating how our business decisions impact our communities and the environment, and being
accountable to our members. Our sound business practices ensure that we remain a strong
competitor in the financial services industry, as well as a socially responsible organization.
> Our environmental impact on the world we live in is a growing concern. With this in mind,
we designed our new Island Administration Office using environmentally friendly materials
and resources, and energy and water efficient technology to build a high-performance,
sustainable workplace for our employees.
> Our Rising Tide lending initiatives assist members who may not necessarily meet
conventional loan requirements but have the entrepreneurial spirit needed to make a valuable
and lasting contribution to our communities. “How can we help you?” aligns with our social
responsibility as we support and improve our communities through corporate donations,
sponsorships, and innovative initiatives.

> Super Helper Maureen Young helps maintain Coast Capital Savings’ commitment to responsible business practices, social
well-being, and a healthy environment. Her job allows her to build relationships with community stakeholders including
Rob Janus, an environmental strategy consultant, Pat Caporale, Co-chair, Housing Affordability Partnership for British Columbia’s
Capital Region, and Dr. Deanna Geddo, a holistic dentist.

How Can We Help You?

9

Coast Capital Savings 2003 Annual Report

2003 ANNUAL REPORT

CORPORATE PROFILE
> Coast Capital Savings is Canada’s second largest credit union with $6.4 billion in assets, 300,000
members, and 42 branches located in the Fraser Valley and Lower Mainland and on southern Vancouver
Island in British Columbia. It was incorporated in 2000 as a result of a merger between Richmond
Savings and Pacific Coast Savings. In 2002, the new credit union merged with Surrey Metro Savings to
expand its geographic reach.
> The credit union’s subsidiaries include Coast Capital Insurance Services Ltd., U-Select Financial and
Insurance Services Ltd., Coast Capital Real Estate Ltd., and Coast Capital Investments. It also operates
two divisions offering commercial services and real estate appraisals.
> For more information about Coast Capital Savings and its subsidiaries, please visit our website at
www.coastcapitalsavings.com.

How can we help you?

How can we help you?

1
10
12
14
24
34
35
38
55
59
60
61

How Can We Help You?
Message from the Board of Directors
Message from the President and Chief Executive Officer
Social Responsibility Summary
Management’s Discussion & Analysis
Management’s Responsibility & Auditors’ Report to the Members
Consolidated Financial Statements
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Corporate Governance
Board of Directors
Executive
Corporate Information

Coast Capital Savings 2003 Annual Report

2003 ANNUAL REPORT

CORPORATE PROFILE
> Coast Capital Savings is Canada’s second largest credit union with $6.4 billion in assets, 300,000
members, and 42 branches located in the Fraser Valley and Lower Mainland and on southern Vancouver
Island in British Columbia. It was incorporated in 2000 as a result of a merger between Richmond
Savings and Pacific Coast Savings. In 2002, the new credit union merged with Surrey Metro Savings to
expand its geographic reach.
> The credit union’s subsidiaries include Coast Capital Insurance Services Ltd., U-Select Financial and
Insurance Services Ltd., Coast Capital Real Estate Ltd., and Coast Capital Investments. It also operates
two divisions offering commercial services and real estate appraisals.
> For more information about Coast Capital Savings and its subsidiaries, please visit our website at
www.coastcapitalsavings.com.

How can we help you?

How can we help you?

1
10
12
14
24
34
35
38
55
59
60
61

How Can We Help You?
Message from the Board of Directors
Message from the President and Chief Executive Officer
Social Responsibility Summary
Management’s Discussion & Analysis
Management’s Responsibility & Auditors’ Report to the Members
Consolidated Financial Statements
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Corporate Governance
Board of Directors
Executive
Corporate Information

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

in thousands of dollars, unless otherwise stated

in thousands of dollars, unless otherwise stated

2002 reflects merger with Surrey Metro Savings Credit Union, effective June 27, 2002.
2000 reflects merger between Richmond Savings Credit Union and Pacific Coast Savings Credit Union, effective December 31, 2000.

2002 reflects merger with Surrey Metro Savings Credit Union, effective June 27, 2002.
2000 reflects merger between Richmond Savings Credit Union and Pacific Coast Savings Credit Union, effective December 31, 2000.

2,917,871

5,305,265

5,651,445
5,651,4
45

2,962,817

3,054,937

5,606,339

5,954,508

As at December 31

Balance sheet
Assets
Loans
Deposits
Members’ equity
2000

2001

2002

2003

Total Loans

147,771

2000

2001

2002

2003

Total Deposits

167,192

201,032

237,263

11,271

18,811

26,322

Results of operations
Net interest income
Other income
Non-interest expenses
Net income

2003

$

$

2000

2001

2002

2003

0.36

2000

2001

2002

2003

Net Income

0.58

0.55

0.60

3.69

3.56

3.13

2001

2002

2003

Net Income as a Percentage of Average Assets

2.80

2001

2002

2003

Non-Interest Expenses as a Percentage of Average Assets

7.43

11.94

14.37

17.49

2000

2001

2002

2003

Net Income as a Percentage of Average Equity

2000

85.02

81.39

81.51

78.53

2000

2001

2002

2003

Operating Efficiency
in percent

$

160,864
62,128
175,116
37,473

$

Selected average balances
Assets
Loans
Deposits
Borrowings
Members’ equity

78.53
17.49
0.60
9.64
10.94
$

Dividends in percent
Class B shares
Class C shares

2000

6,421,467
5,651,445
5,954,508
237,263

2001

6,062,372
5,305,265
5,606,339
201,032

$

126,742
57,795
150,423
26,322

$

HEAD OFFICE
4th Floor
15117 – 101 Avenue
Surrey, BC V3R 8P7
T: 604.517.7400
F: 604.517.7405

2000

3,357,735
2,917,871
3,054,937
167,192

$

95,925
46,736
116,112
18,811

$

3,163,243
2,648,310
2,962,817
147,771

ISLAND ADMINISTRATION OFFICE
400, 645 Tyee Road
Victoria, BC V9A 6X5
T: 250.483.8100
F: 250.483.8108

89,937
47,346
116,715
11,271

RICHMOND ADMINISTRATION OFFICE
300, 5611 Cooney Road
Richmond, BC V6X 3J5
T: 604.288.3030
F: 604.273.7612

37,473

Financial statistics in percent
Operating efficiency
Return on average equity
Return on average assets
Capital ratio
Liquidity ratio
Members’ Equity

2002

Assets under administration
Mutual funds

6,259,735
5,496,836
5,755,022
93,407
214,275

81.51
14.37
0.55
8.27
11.21
$

4.27
6.00
$

1,029,448

4,798,744
4,200,555
4,407,634
128,647
183,216

81.39
11.94
0.58
10.10
11.96
$

5.06
—
$

910,216

3,260,489
2,783,091
3,008,877
9,125
157,482

85.02
7.43
0.36
9.65
15.56
$

5.19
—
$

687,999

CONTACT CENTRE
604.517.7000 (Greater Vancouver)
250.483.7000 (Greater Victoria)
1.888.517.7000 (Toll-free)

SURREY METRO SAVINGS NON-VOTING
SHARES REDEMPTION PROGRAM
Computershare Investor Services Inc.
510 Burrard Street
Vancouver, BC V6C 3B9
T: 1.866.245.4423
F: 1.866.249.7775
Coast Capital Savings
4th Floor
15117 – 101 Avenue
Surrey, BC V3R 8P7
T: 604.517.7461
F: 604.517.7655
AUDITORS
KPMG LLP
Box 10426
777 Dunsmuir Street
Vancouver, BC V7Y 1K3

3,163,892
2,647,664
2,966,795
4,231
151,610
6.52
—

$

752,422
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2,648,310

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Coast Capital Savings was named one of
Canada’s 50 Best managed companies,
recognized for its best practices in areas
including leadership, financial growth, and
social responsibility.

Coast Capital Savings is one of only 550
Canadian companies to earn recognition as
a Caring Company by the Imagine Program,
an initiative of the Canadian Centre for
Philanthropy.

ECO-AUDIT
This Annual Report was printed on recycled
papers containing 30% and 50% post-consumer
waste and saved the following:
13 trees
518 kilograms of solid waste

4,754 litres of water
1,639 kilowatt hours of electricity
2.1 months of electric power
(required by the average home)
942 kilograms of green house gases

2003 ANNUAL REPORT SURVEY
HOW CAN YOU HELP US?
Please share your feedback on our 2003
Please share your feedback on our 2003
Annual Report by completing our online survey
Annual Report by completing our online survey
.coastcapitalsavings.com.
at www.coastcapitalsavings.com. .

Printed in Canada using vegetable-based inks.

MESSAGE FROM THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

> The largest credit union merger integration ever undertaken is just about complete.
The hard work and dedication of our employees, along with the loyalty of our
members, is now bringing to life the promise of an even better credit union. The
merger integration has received a great deal of Board oversight and it will be
successfully completed in the first half of 2004.
This past year has seen a lot of change. Change is
necessary in order to realize the benefits of the merger and
to position Coast Capital Savings as a more effective and
efficient financial services provider. Every significant
element of change is guided by research with our members
and is reviewed by the Board. One of the research projects
completed was to determine what members wanted the
most from their financial relationship with Coast Capital
Savings. The findings were analyzed and distilled into a
new mission statement that we believe accurately reflects
what our members want: Simple financial help. As we
move forward, everything that we do as a financial services
provider will be based on delivering simple financial help
in a highly complicated financial world.

A Year of Change
While management and employees have been busy
completing the integration process, the credit union
system has continued to consolidate across the country,
with British Columbia credit unions leading the way. As
we move forward, Coast Capital Savings is committed to
playing a leadership role in encouraging other credit
unions to partner with us. An exciting future lies ahead for
us as we embark on our vision: Yes from Coast to coast.
Governments recognize that credit unions are a viable
alternative to the banks, and Coast Capital Savings will be
looking for merger opportunities both here in British
Columbia and across the country as the legislation slowly
changes. Plans for future mergers will always be based on
making Coast Capital Savings stronger for the benefit of
all members, employees, and the communities we serve.
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We also conducted research on the patronage dividend
program. Member awareness of the program was
approximately 47%, and only 10% could recall the actual
dividend paid, which was an average of $16 for 2002.
According to the findings, nine out of 10 members felt
that it was important to invest in our communities, while
20% of members indicated that they would increase
their amount of business with Coast Capital Savings if we
increased our community support. The research also
revealed that more than 70% of members were in favour
of the credit union allocating some or all of their patronage
payment to support community programs and activities.
Based on this research, commencing with the 2003
dividend payment, the Board has approved apportioning
this earnings allocation between Coast Capital Savings’
extensive community programs and the credit union’s
retained earnings. This change will provide long-term
benefits for our members in the form of investment that
will strengthen both the communities we serve and the
financial base for the credit union.

Community Support and Social Responsibility
In 2003, Coast Capital Savings provided $2.1 million to
support community programs. In recognition of our four-year,
$300,000 commitment to the Quality of Life CHALLENGE,

an initiative dedicated to improving the lives of lowincome, unemployed and under-employed people living in
British Columbia’s Capital Region, we were honoured with
the Ethics in Action Community Care Award, which was
sponsored by Canadian Business for Social Responsibility.
Coast Capital Savings’ participation and support in the
community is an essential part of how we do business.
Each of our heritage credit unions were actively engaged
in their communities. The Board recently approved a
new community involvement model that will see these
programs brought together to deliver our community
impact in a more effective and consistent manner across
all the regions that we serve. The Coast Community Fund
will be a broad-based approach to community support
across the regions, while the Coast Capital Savings
Foundation will focus on specific issues which will
significantly benefit from our community investment.
“Coast Capital Savings is a socially responsible
organization; we reflect this in our values and integrate
social, environmental, and financial objectives in
everything we do.” This Board policy reflects what we
believe our members expect of their credit union. The
policy goes well beyond the time-honoured practice of
philanthropy and is designed to drive every aspect of
the company in a socially responsible fashion.
A good example of this is the new Island Administration
Office that employees moved to at the end of 2003.
The new office demonstrates how to incorporate 21st
century environmentally friendly materials, practices,
and technology into an exciting and uplifting workplace.
Coast Capital Savings’ two floors in the new building
were designed, finished, and outfitted for international
recognition in “Leadership in Energy and Environmental
Design” (LEED) which we hope to receive certification
for in 2004.

issues, once we have the new technology in place.
We thank members for participating in these decisions.
Immediately following the 2004 Annual General Meeting,
the Board of Directors will reduce from 16 positions to
14, and in 2005 it will be further reduced to 12 directors
as provided for in our Rules. Current Board policy requires
that a minimum of four directors reside on the Island and
eight directors reside on the Lower Mainland. This assures
an element of geographical representation that relates to
the integration of our heritage credit unions.
The policy also provides that all members have the
opportunity to vote for all available director positions no
matter where the candidates or members reside. This is
consistent with both our members’ expectations and each
director’s responsibility of representing the interests of all
members and the credit union as a whole. Your Board of
Directors remains absolutely committed to delivering on
the promise of creating an even stronger credit union for
our members, our communities, and the entire credit
union system.
On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to
thank our employees for the exemplary work they do
every day of the week. I would also like to thank our
members for their support and continued forbearance
as we complete the largest credit union merger ever
undertaken. Our future is stronger today than it was
yesterday, and we will continue to grow and strengthen
as Coast Capital Savings moves forward.

Governance and the Board

Bill Wellburn, CA

In November, members approved two special resolutions
through a mail-in ballot. The first resolution dealt
specifically with director elections and enables members
to vote for any number of candidates seeking election up
to the number of board vacancies to be filled each year.
The second resolution focused on the future and will
provide members with the alternative of using electronic
communications to vote for directors and resolutions, and
a new way of providing their feedback on any number of

Chair, Board of Directors
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MESSAGE FROM THE PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

> 2003 marked our first full year as a merged organization. We have come together
to form a special new credit union, with the three heritage entities carrying forward
their proud histories to create a stronger Coast Capital Savings. In a year full of
highlights, the commencement of a new and unique Coast Capital Savings culture
is one of our most significant accomplishments.
We have also delivered a harmonized product line,
with new pricing, features, and benefits. Each change
resulting from the merger was brought about by asking
how we can make our organization more competitive for
our members, expand our ability to grow the member
base, as well as create additional opportunities for our
employees.
In January of this year, we successfully launched our
new “How can we help you?” brand with television ads.
They have produced tremendous feedback, which we are
delighted with as it proves that the brand is breaking
through and resonating with viewers. We chose to use
television ads for the first time, as our research findings
indicated that few consumers on the Lower Mainland were
familiar with the Coast Capital Savings name. The ads
were designed to raise awareness of our new brand, and
throughout this year, we will be tracking our results from
the ads to ensure that we are achieving our objective.

Integration
Integration activity played a major role throughout 2003,
and I am pleased to report that much was accomplished.
We unveiled new signage which maintained the Coast
Capital Savings logo and moved to a new corporate
blue to gain visibility. As we work towards building our
member base, well-executed street visibility becomes
imperative in a market saturated with competitive
signage. Members also received a new custom-designed
Member Card, which represents an integral part of our
new branding strategy. The new Member Cards will give
members access to enhanced features on our online
and telephone banking services, and will build upon
the already stringent privacy measures that the credit
union maintains.
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By mid-year 2004, we will be operating as a single
financial institution — dedicated to putting the membership
at the centre of everything we do, by delivering the help
needed to solve their daily financial challenges. We will
merge to a single banking system, allowing all members
to do business through any of our 42 branches, the
Contact Centre, and our electronic services, Coast Online
Banking and Coast-by-Phone.

Financial Performance
Eighteen months after the merger, we have a stronger
balance sheet, and a stronger December 31, 2003 over
December 31, 2002. Our subordinated debt has been
paid down from $50 million to $34 million, and we
raised through the membership, $39 million in Class C,
six-year shares. As well, our retained earnings grew in
2003 to end the year at $186 million. With all of these
elements considered, we increased our statutory capital
from 8.27% in December 31, 2002, to 9.64% in
December 31, 2003. This is a significant accomplishment

given that the merger cost $139 million; $109 million
for the shares of Surrey Metro Savings, and $30 million
in merger expenses.
Our net income for the year was $37 million. Net
income expressed as a return on average assets was
0.60% in 2003, or 0.71% before merger-related
transaction expenses; compared with 0.55% in 2002,
or 0.61% before merger-related transaction expenses.
We have not yet captured all the possible operating
efficiencies from the merger. As we do, we expect
profitability to improve. We search for, and work hard to
obtain better efficiencies in order to increase profitability
and allow us to be a better organization for our
stakeholders; be more competitive for the membership;
create additional growth, and therefore, greater employee
opportunities; and build an expanded base from which
to support our many communities.

50 Best

combined ability to serve our members and communities
in a larger geographic area.
Our vision of becoming an aggregator is based on our
ability to clearly see opportunities for the Canadian credit
union system in a future that hopefully holds new and
expanded legislative benefits. We believe the many
strengths of the Canadian credit union system should be
taken to the next level of competitiveness by creating
larger and more efficient organizations, which may be
represented in more than one province.
The Coast Capital Savings team —Board, management,
and employees — are ready to be a part of that exciting
progress and change. We believe that it is natural to
evolve the credit union system and build on the
remarkable progress the system has accomplished in
the last half century. We look forward to meeting these
challenges and to sharing our continued success with
our employees, members, and communities.

We were pleased to learn in the first quarter of 2004
that Coast Capital Savings had once again been named
one of Canada’s 50 Best managed companies. The award
recognizes best business practices in the areas of leadership,
strategy, culture, brand, and knowledge. I congratulate our
dedicated employees for this achievement.

Looking Ahead

Lloyd Craig

As we complete the integration project in 2004, we
look forward to the future opportunities that lie ahead.
We continue to believe that bank mergers will occur, opening
up branch acquisition possibilities for Coast Capital
Savings. Today, credit unions must operate within their
provincial boundaries, and so we also believe that the
federal government must allow credit unions the opportunity
to expand out of their home province, if deemed
strategically appropriate by each Board of Directors.

President and Chief Executive Officer

We have been advocates of consolidation within the
credit union system for some time and continue to believe
that this trend will continue. We have publicly stated that
we would be in favour of Coast Capital Savings being
an aggregator, that is to say, we welcome credit unions
partnering with Coast Capital Savings. This will in turn
strengthen each credit union and their own member
responsibilities, employee obligations, and community
commitments. As a result, the organization would grow in
assets and capital, and most importantly, improve our
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Chris Craig 4
Sooke resident
Board Member since 2002

Tom Kirstein 1, 4, 5
White Rock resident
Board Member since 1998

Georgiana Evans 6, 7
Delta resident
Board Member since 1993

Patricia Lane 6
Victoria resident
Board Member since 1995

Frank Harper 4, 5
Surrey resident
Board Member since 1995

Tilly Marxreiter 3
Delta resident
Board Member since 1995

John Huska 4, 7
Surrey resident
Board Member since 1981

Gordon Munn 4
Victoria resident
Board Member since 1990

Doug Brawn 2, 3
Surrey resident
Board Member since 2000

John Jansen
Chilliwack resident
Board Member since 1999

Doug Stone
White Rock resident
Board Member since 1994

Christine Brodie 6
Richmond resident
Board Member since 1993

Karen Kesteloo 5, 7
Victoria resident
Board Member since 1984

Bill Wellburn 1, 2, 4, 5
Chair
Victoria resident
Board Member since 1992
Bob Garnett
1st Vice Chair
Richmond resident
Board Member since 1985
1, 5

Daniel Burns 1, 2, 3
2nd Vice Chair
Vancouver resident
Board Member since 1994

3, 6

2, 7

Back Row: John Jansen, Doug Stone,
John Huska
Third Row: Gordon Munn, Tom Kirstein,
Bob Garnett, Daniel Burns, Tilly Marxreiter
Second Row: Karen Kesteloo, Doug Brawn,
Georgiana Evans, Frank Harper
Seated: Christine Brodie, Bill Wellburn
Not shown in photo: Chris Craig,
Patricia Lane

Board Committees
1 Executive
2 Human Resources
3 Conduct Review
4 Investment and Loan
5 Finance and Audit
6 Governance and Member Relations
7 Nominations and Election

Board of Directors 59

EXECUTIVE

Senior Executive
Lloyd Craig
President and
Chief Executive Officer

Mike Bushore
Senior Vice President
Strategic Planning

Nancy McNeill
Senior Vice President
Administration

Sheila Baker
Chief Information Officer

Lawrie Ferguson
Senior Vice President
Marketing

David Munson
Chief Credit Officer

Hermann Bessert
Chief Financial Officer

Ken Hahn
Senior Vice President
Human Resources

Joel Rosenberg
Chief Operating Officer

Back Row: Joel Rosenberg,
David Munson, Hermann Bessert,
Ken Hahn
Second Row: Lawrie Ferguson,
Mike Bushore, Sheila Baker
Seated: Lloyd Craig, Nancy McNeill

Executive
Dave Finner
Vice President
Retail Services

Herb Jamieson
Vice President
Retail Performance

Cyndie Kremyr
Vice President
Public Affairs

Geoff Parkin
Vice President
Subsidiaries

David Gaskin
Vice President
Finance

Trudi Kloepper
Senior Vice President
Wealth Management

Rod Marr
Senior Vice President
Commercial Services

Lynn Roberts
Vice President
Performance Analytics

Guy Gondor
Vice President
Information Technology

Norm Krannitz
Vice President
Treasury

Ross Morrow
Vice President
Retail Services

Brenda Scott
Vice President
Human Resources

Sheena Hanbury
Vice President
Retail Services
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

> The Board of Directors and management are committed to strong corporate governance
practices and policies for the growth and long-term success of Coast Capital Savings.
Good corporate governance requires sound ethics, values, judgment, and integrity
throughout the organization. The Board and management are committed to excellence in
this regard, and are dedicated to the credit union’s engagement in and promotion of
responsible financial, social, and environmental practices.
A fundamental operating principle of credit unions is
democratic ownership — every member has one vote in
director elections and for resolutions. All members are
equal owners, regardless of the size of their respective
credit union shares and deposits. Every member, subject
to requirements of legislation and the credit union
Rules, has the right to seek election to the Board of
Directors. Directors are elected to the Board by the
membership of Coast Capital Savings for staggered
three-year terms, and are eligible for re-election at the
conclusion of each term.
Effective governance requires that the Board be
comprised of competent members who understand
their roles and responsibilities and are prepared to work
effectively together in the best interests of the credit
union. Through good corporate governance practices,
the Board of Directors enhances the credit union’s
ability to achieve success and value for its members,
stakeholders, and the credit union itself.
Coast Capital Savings supports the guidelines
established by the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSX) for
effective corporate governance, and uses these
guidelines as a baseline with respect to oversight and
governance standards. The guidelines and Coast Capital
Savings’ practice with respect to each, follows.

1.

The Board should explicitly assume responsibility for
the stewardship of the corporation:
The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing
the credit union’s management and business affairs
and makes all major policy decisions for Coast Capital
Savings. The day-to-day management of the business
and affairs of the credit union are delegated by the
Board to the Chief Executive Officer (CEO).
Long-term goals and strategies for the credit union
are developed as part of the Board’s annual strategic
planning process. Through an annual budgeting
process, the Board adopts the operating budget,
capital budget, and business plans for the coming
year, and then monitors management’s progress
through regular reporting and review processes.
The integrity of the credit union’s internal control
and management information system is monitored
by the Board and its committees. The Board
delegates certain work to its seven standing
committees: Executive, Human Resources, Finance
& Audit, Conduct Review, Governance & Member
Relations, Nominations & Election, and Investment
& Loan. Each committee is comprised of at least
three directors and the Board Chair serves ex-officio
on those committees to which he/she has not
otherwise been elected or appointed. Each committee
has available to it as a resource the CEO and other
such members of management as may from time to
time be determined to be appropriate. The Board
determines the powers and responsibilities of each
committee and reviews the authority and mandate
of each committee annually.
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2.

Majority of directors should be unrelated
(unrelated director means a director who is
independent of management and is free from any
interest and any business or other relationship
which could, or could reasonably be perceived to,
materially interfere with the director’s ability to
act with a view to the best interest of the credit
union — the application of the definition of “unrelated
director” is the responsibility of the Board):
The members of Coast Capital Savings, on a
one-member, one-vote basis, elect the Board of
Directors. The Rules of Coast Capital Savings
prohibit an employee of the credit union from
serving on the Board of Directors. The Board
currently has only one “insider director,” defined
by the Board of Coast Capital Savings as any
person who derives more than five percent of his/her
commercial income from his/her relationship with
Coast Capital Savings (not including income
derived from his/her remuneration as a director).

3.

Appointment of a committee composed exclusively of
outside (i.e., non-management) directors, a majority
of whom are unrelated directors, responsible for proposing to the full Board new nominees to the Board
and for assessing directors on an ongoing basis:
The Nominations & Election Committee is
composed exclusively of outside directors who are
not currently seeking re-election, and is responsible
for overseeing the election of directors by the
members of the credit union. This committee seeks
nominations for election as director, accepts the
nominations of qualified individuals, and endorses
those candidates who, in the opinion of the
committee, would add strength to the Board of
Directors for the benefit of the credit union and
its members. The Rules of Coast Capital Savings
prohibit an employee of the credit union from
serving on the Board of Directors. The Governance
& Member Relations Committee ensures that an
annual Board evaluation is undertaken and makes
recommendations regarding Board effectiveness.
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4.

Implement a process for assessing effectiveness
of the Board as a whole, the Committees of the
Board, and the contribution of individual directors:
Annually each director completes a questionnaire
designed to elicit feedback on the effectiveness of
the Board and its committees. The Board retained
an independent advisor to assist with its evaluation
in 2003. The Governance & Member Relations
Committee considers each director’s annual
comments on the effectiveness of the Board and its
committees and then proposes modifications to
improve the Board and committee functions, and
the corporate governance practices of the credit
union. Each committee has also undertaken to
self-assess its effectiveness.

5.

Provide orientation and education programs for new
Board members:
The Governance & Member Relations Committee
ensures that access to training and education is
provided to directors to update, maintain, and
enhance their skills and knowledge. As well, this
committee ensures that an orientation program is
provided to all new directors to familiarize them
with all aspects of the credit union and their
individual responsibilities and accountabilities as
Board members. Credit union legislation in British
Columbia mandates that all new directors elected
or appointed for the first time must complete a
series of computer-based training tutorials and an
accompanying workshop within the first year of
their election or appointment to the Board. The
mandatory tutorials consist of: an Overview of
the Credit Union System; Board’s Role &
Responsibilities; Director’s Roles; Legal Basics;
Financial Statements; Asset-Liability Management;
and Monitoring Credit Union Performance. In
the second year after election or appointment to
the Board, directors must complete a Business
Simulation program and workshop. Optional training
includes Leadership and Organization; Strategic
Planning; Board Development and Evaluation;
Management, Recruitment, Performance Planning
and Evaluation; Credit; Audit; Financial Management
and Analysis II; and Making Meetings Work.

6.

Consider the size of the Board, with a view to
establishing a Board size which facilitates
effective decision-making:
As a result of a merger in June 2002 with Surrey
Metro Savings, the Board of Coast Capital Savings
comprised of 18 directors at that time. In October
2002, the members of Coast Capital Savings
approved a special resolution to reduce the size of
the Board. As a result, the Board reduced to 16
directors in 2003, and will reduce to 14 directors
in 2004 and 12 in 2005.

7.

Review compensation for directors to ensure it realistically reflects the responsibilities and risk involved
in being a director:
The Governance & Member Relations Committee
is mandated to periodically review and make
recommendations with respect to the remuneration
paid to directors. The members of Coast Capital
Savings must approve changes in director remuneration by ordinary resolution.

8.

Committees should be generally composed of
outside directors, the majority of whom are unrelated
directors, although some Board committees may
include one or more inside director:
Each of the Board’s committees is comprised
entirely of outside directors, and in all cases,
the majority are unrelated directors.

9.

The Board of Directors should expressly assume
responsibility for, or assign a committee
responsible for the corporation’s approach to
corporate governance issues:
The Governance and Member Relations Committee
is responsible to provide a focus on Board
governance that will enhance the credit union’s
performance, and community and member relations.

10. Develop position descriptions for the Board
and the CEO; define limits to management’s
responsibilities; and approve corporate objectives
that the CEO is responsible for meeting — assess
the CEO against these objectives:
The Board of Directors, individual directors, and
the CEO each has an express written mandate.
The CEO’s limits of authority are clearly defined.
Corporate objectives are established and adopted
annually by the Board, and the CEO’s performance
is measured against these objectives.
11. Implement structures and procedures to ensure the
Board can function independently of management:
Coast Capital Savings has a Chair separate
from management, and the Board functions
independently of management. The Chair’s role
is to ensure that full and effective reporting and
communication is established between the CEO
and the Board of Directors, and that all proper
business for consideration of the Board of Directors
is brought forward to its meetings. The Board
meets in-camera as part of each of its regularly
scheduled meetings (presently a minimum of eight
times per year).
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12 The audit committee should be composed only
of outside directors. Roles and responsibilities
should be specifically defined so as to provide
appropriate guidance to committee members.
The audit committee should have direct access to
internal and external auditors and the committee’s
duties should include oversight responsibilities for
management reporting on internal controls. The
audit committee should ensure that management
has an effective system of internal control:
The Finance & Audit Committee, comprised solely
of outside directors, is responsible for monitoring
corporate compliance and influencing quality
financial reporting and sound internal controls. The
members of the committee are all deemed by the
Board to be financially literate. The committee’s
mandate is to monitor to ensure quality financial
management and reporting, and sound internal
controls. The committee annually reviews, approves,
and recommends to the Board approval of policies
and procedures relating to financial reporting,
external audit, risk management, and internal audit.
An external auditor reports directly to the committee.
13 Implement a system to enable individual directors to
engage outside advisors at the corporation’s expense
in appropriate circumstances:
The Board of Directors may engage the services
of independent outside advisors who do not
represent the credit union in any other matter.
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY SUMMARY

> Coast Capital Savings has a vision of sustainability. We help our employees achieve
their professional aspirations, help members reach their financial dreams, and use our
financial resources to help build stronger communities. Everything we do reflects our core
belief in social responsibility. This summary is an overview of our continued commitment
to responsible business practices, social well-being, and a healthy environment.
INTRODUCTION
Ethical business practices, democratic governance,
progressive employee development, environmental
awareness, transparency and accountability, and healthy
financial outcomes are areas in which we hold ourselves
accountable to our employees, members, and surrounding
communities.
In November 2001, Coast Capital Savings commissioned
Canadian Business for Social Responsibility (CBSR) to
perform an analysis of our socially responsible practices
to identify gaps and areas for improvement. CBSR is a
national organization of businesses dedicated to helping
companies integrate financial, social, and environmental
responsibilities into their overall business strategy and
performance. The following year, the credit union became
a member of CBSR and began the process of addressing
the identified gaps. During 2003, we continued to work on
addressing the areas identified in the 2001 Gap Analysis
and in 2004, we will work closely with CBSR as we
become more strategic in embedding corporate social
responsibility values across more areas within our
organization. We will ensure that all identified gaps
have been closed or dealt with to our satisfaction.
Social responsibility reporting is not regulated or required,
although the Canadian government is encouraging
more businesses to actively participate and provide this
additional form of transparency and accountability. Coast
Capital Savings chooses to report on its social responsibility
practices because we recognize that the relationship
between corporate behaviour and desired quality of life is
strong — one that our stakeholders have come to expect
as part of our credit union values.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
Our focus in 2003 remained largely on harmonizing
the products and services, technology and operations,
policies and administration, and most importantly,
the employees from three organizations into a single

14 Coast Capital Savings 2003 Annual Report

credit union. Combining our resources to become one
organization enables us to expand our geographic reach to
better serve our members, allows us to take advantage
of economies of scale to improve our operating efficiency,
and further strengthens the credit union system for
the future. We believe it is important to share our
financial success with our employees, members, and
the surrounding communities.

Employee Incentive Plan
Recognizing that employee performance is directly
linked to the success of the credit union, Coast Capital
Savings offers a rewarding incentive program to its
employees. The plan is subject to the credit union
meeting specific corporate objectives that are set and
reviewed each year. These objectives are measured
based on our financial achievement, member and
employee satisfaction ratings, and our efforts in
community, environmental, and social initiatives.

Supporting Our Communities
In 2003, Coast Capital Savings invested $2.1 million in
our communities, representing nearly five percent of our
pretax profits. Our financial contributions were used to
fund sponsorships and donations in the areas of education,
youth, health and wellness, recreation, arts and culture,
and environmental and civic improvement. The credit
union also operated the Coast Capital Savings Foundation,
which supported community groups with recognized good
organizational practices and maintained the values of
our membership.
United Way is a major recipient of Coast Capital Savings’
corporate and employee giving programs. In 2003,
the credit union contributed $45,000 to the annual
fundraising campaign. Employees further demonstrated
their generosity and understanding of the need to
support community projects and initiatives by donating
$182,000, making Coast Capital Savings’ total
contribution to United Way $227,000.

> In 2003, Coast Capital Savings and its employees donated $227,000 to United Way’s annual campaign. Employee Deborah Freedman
also served as a United Way Loaned Representative for a 16-week period, providing support to other businesses to develop and strengthen
their employee campaigns.
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Our credit union received the Organizational Support
Award at the United Way Spirit Awards to recognize our
dedication and service to the communities we serve and
to United Way.
In another substantial corporate partnership, employees
collected and donated $173,000 to support the
Cops for Cancer fundraising initiative on behalf of the
Canadian Cancer Society. The money raised enables
children to attend Camp Goodtimes and funds research
into child-related cancers.
Coast Capital Savings’ support for its communities goes
far beyond writing a cheque. The credit union encourages
employees to become involved in corporate initiatives and
share their expertise and knowledge by way of volunteering
throughout their communities. More than 20,000
volunteer hours were donated by employees to support
a variety of initiatives and events throughout the regions
that we serve.

Community Economic Development
Community economic development (CED) is one way
Coast Capital Savings contributes to increasing the
vibrancy and resiliency of our communities. CED
activities often include partnerships and collaborations
with community organizations to ensure integrated
and coordinated approaches to solving challenges.
Coast Capital Savings focuses its CED efforts into three
main areas: business startups and aftercare, affordable
housing, and community capacity building.
Coast Capital Savings’ core lending products in support
of business startups are contained in a portfolio entitled
“Rising Tide.” These loans support individuals, community
groups, and businesses that may not meet standard
lending criteria, but have much to contribute to the
development of their communities. In 2003, Rising Tide
loan offerings included micro-credit loans for business
startups and expansions, social enterprise loans for
businesses with a social mission, and ABLED (Advice
and Business Loans for Entrepreneurs with Disabilities).
Western Economic Diversification Canada is an important
partner in Rising Tide initiatives.
Our credit union goes beyond the traditional lending
process to ensure that these businesses succeed by
partnering with local organizations to provide advice and
technical assistance to loan recipients that may be
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encountering issues in their business and require
additional help.
In 2003, Coast Capital Savings assisted 22 clients
resulting in over $1 million in Rising Tide loan initiatives.
More than 140 new jobs have been created from these
business startups, which in turn, have provided positive
economic growth within the community.
Access to affordable housing is becoming more of a critical
issue. During 2003, Coast Capital Savings supported
the work of a number of community groups developing
strategies for addressing affordable housing issues and
holding forums to enable public discussion of housing
concerns. The credit union also provided financing for
affordable housing projects.
Community capacity building focuses on building
and strengthening the knowledge, skills, and resources
of communities and their organizations. In 2003,
Coast Capital Savings partnered with the Vancouver
Foundation, VanCity Community Foundation, and United
Way of the Lower Mainland to provide the Enterprising
Non-Profit Program (ENP). The program provides
technical and funding support to non-profit organizations
in British Columbia who are interested in starting or
expanding a business venture.
We played a key role in the Pan Western Canadian
Conference for Entrepreneurs with Disabilities, held in
Richmond in 2003, and served as leadership partners
in the Quality of Life CHALLENGE (British Columbia’s
Capital Region), and Vibrant Surrey, two initiatives
focused on reducing poverty in the region.
At the end of 2003, Coast Capital Savings was
recognized for its four-year, $300,000 commitment
to the Quality of Life CHALLENGE. The credit union
was honoured with the Ethics in Action Community
Care Award, which identifies businesses that have
developed meaningful and innovative community
partnerships and positively impacted the community in
which they operate.

> Darren Deol, Dalbir Dosanjh, and Justin Chouhan are members of Enver Creek Secondary School’s senior basketball team. They participated in
the 13th Annual Surrey RCMP Basketball Classic, an event proudly sponsored by Coast Capital Savings that promotes a strong partnership
between local schools and law enforcement.
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SOCIAL PERFORMANCE
As a credit union, we continually strive to improve the social
development of our employees, members, and communities.
We believe that we have a responsibility to improve the
quality of life for our stakeholders, and in doing so, we are
living up to the cooperative values established by our
heritage credit unions more than 50 years ago.

Valuing Our Employees
Coast Capital Savings has established a reputation for
providing a workplace that treats employees fairly and
with dignity and respect. We have over 2,000 reasons why
employees are our most important assets. We work hard to
attract the best candidates to our company by offering a
competitive compensation and benefits program that
rewards and retains high-performing employees.
Maintaining a strong corporate culture is critical to building
employee morale. We recognize that our organization has
evolved as a result of the past two mergers, and that we will
continue to transform to meet the needs of our members.
Our goal is to effectively manage the degree of change our
employees undergo and to offer them support in making the
transition process easier.
We offer flexible work arrangements that recognize
our employees’ lifestyle choices and enable them to
contribute to the success of both our organization and
the community. Life-long learning is valued and
encouraged at Coast Capital Savings. Through our
professional in-house training team and financial
support for education and training, we are committed
to assisting our employees obtain the latest skills and
expertise to best serve our members.
We use employee surveys and focus groups to gain regular
employee feedback to understand the overall needs and
perceptions of our employees. We gather information in
the areas of work environment, career development and
training, performance management, decision-making,
teamwork, and compensation and benefits, and share
these survey results with our employees.

Engaging Member Feedback
The key distinction between banks and credit unions is
that members have a strong voice in the decisions of the
organization. Coast Capital Savings encourages members
to participate in many important aspects of our business,
including director elections and other voting matters put
before the membership.
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We have a responsibility to listen to our members, offer
them the products that they need, and remain innovative
in our services to maintain our competitive edge in an
industry that is ever-changing.
Communication is imperative in our business. During
the merger process, we ensured our members were
kept informed of any changes affecting their banking
relationship with us and educated them with respect to
our products and services, community activities, and
other important initiatives through statement mailings,
brochures, newsletters, the website, and annual report.
Member satisfaction surveys and focus groups are two
primary methods of soliciting feedback from members.
Additional comments are also solicited by way of in-branch
comment cards and online surveys. We also ensure that
our employees are trained to respond to our members’
inquiries and resolve any service issues.

Supporting Future Leaders
Coast Capital Savings believes strongly in supporting
tomorrow’s leaders. We provide a number of opportunities
for youth to become involved in their communities, and
we also offer educational awards to help offset the cost
of higher education.
In 2003, the credit union gave more than $130,000
to help students meet the rising cost of postsecondary
education. Recipients were selected based on academic
performance and community and school involvement.
Coast Capital Savings’ Youth Team program offers a group
of Grade 11 and 12 students the valuable opportunity to
develop their leadership skills, learn about community
relations, and gain business experience by working in a
local financial institution. In 2003, the Youth Team was
successfully expanded to the Richmond area of the Lower
Mainland to include seven students. Another 13 students
from Greater Victoria represented Coast Capital Savings,
and together these two youth groups acted as goodwill
ambassadors at more than 95 community events in 2003.

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE
Environmental stewardship begins with each of us
doing our part to improve the world we share. At Coast
Capital Savings, it means creating value today without
compromising our limited future resources. As an
organization with 2,000 employees and 300,000
members, we know that the small things we do today
can reduce the overall impact on our environment.

> Employees Geoff Parkin, Meagan Olsen, and Joan Guild take a moment to appreciate our new Island Administration Office, which was
designed using state-of-the-art strategies for a sustainable workplace, water savings, energy efficiency, materials selection, and indoor
environmental quality.
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Educating Employees and Members
In 2002, we created an Environment Committee to
discuss how Coast Capital Savings employees can
support our environmental concerns. We believe that
educating our employees and our members can go a
long way. Members of the Environment Committee
visited branches to deliver a “30-minute environmental
workout” that created greater awareness among our
employees of our environmental impacts at work and at
home, and how these can be minimized.
We also educate employees, members, and the public
through a monthly corporate social responsibility column in
our community newspapers. Stories on “green purchasing”
or offering examples on “setting environmental resolutions”
serve to inform the general public on how they can be
more environmentally responsible.
In 2003, we established a social and environmental
purchasing policy, and in 2004 we will be developing
a guidebook to introduce the policy to employees.
The guidebook will explain how employees can make
environmentally responsible purchases and screen
suppliers to ensure that our social responsibility practices
are also shared and valued by these partners.
Coast Capital Savings’ current environmental practices
include extensive recycling and use of recycled and/or
recyclable products, use of energy-efficient appliances
and heating, lighting and ventilating systems, and
encouraging employees to use alternatives to singleoccupancy vehicles for daily commuting.
Our employees’ participation in the 2003 National
Commuter Challenge Day resulted in 753 fewer singleoccupancy vehicles on the road and raised awareness of
sustainable, responsible transportation alternatives.
Reducing paper consumption is one area that we
constantly strive to improve our performance. Recycling,
reusing, and reducing have become standard practice at
all our branches and offices. At the end of 2003, we
introduced double-sided chequing statements and
were pleased to offer members the choice to opt out of
receiving their chequing statements altogether. A growing
number of our members no longer prefer paper
communication as all member statements, newsletters,
and publications are readily available on our website at
www.coastcapitalsavings.com.
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As part of our commitment to reducing our impact on the
environment, we work with our printers to find recycled
paper stocks that are produced in Canada and contain a
percentage of post-consumer waste. We also manage our
print quantities to ensure that we are not printing more
materials than needed.

Green Building For Employees
At the end of 2003, employees from our Island
Administration Office relocated to a new 25,000 square
foot office. Keeping environmental responsibility in mind,
we designed our offices to meet the LEED (Leadership
in Energy and Environmental Design) for Commercial
Interiors standards, and are awaiting formal certification
of our offices.
LEED emphasizes state-of-the-art strategies for sustainable site development, water savings, energy efficiency,
materials selection, and indoor environmental quality.
We are proud to offer our employees a high-performance,
sustainable workplace for their comfort and enjoyment.

LOOKING AHEAD
We believe that within the next five to ten years, social
responsibility will become a routine part of everyday
business. Social responsibility tool kits, language, and
reporting will become more familiar and form an integral
part of strategic planning and measurement in the future.
The new area of focus will be reporting on the extent
to which a company’s socially responsible practices
and performance have actually improved social and
environmental conditions.
Coast Capital Savings has always been proactive in setting
socially responsible practices and standards. We’re
committed to taking a balanced approach in our strategy
regarding sustainability and in the key areas of financial,
social, and environmental practices. Each day we’re
learning more about what we can do to better serve our
employees, members, and communities. Our continuing
development towards establishing measurable objectives
ensures that we maintain our focus on excellent business
practices that will benefit all of us today and tomorrow.

2003 SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY HIGHLIGHTS

> In 2002, Coast Capital Savings published its second Social Responsibility report,
which identified the credit union’s strengths and opportunities for improvement in
its socially responsible practices. A progress report on those initiatives is presented
below and on page 22.

OBJECTIVES

PERFORMANCE

Extend community economic development financing initiatives
to the Richmond area.

An Assistant Manager, Community Economic Development was
hired to expand our CED initiatives on the Lower Mainland.

Engage members in discussions about their social responsibility
priorities.

A member and staff survey was completed in November and will be
used to assist social responsibility strategic planning for 2004.

Develop a social responsibility training module for employees
to raise internal awareness of our programs and practices in
this area.

We continue to make presentations on corporate social responsibility,
community economic development, Rising Tide, ABLED, community
relations, and the environment to employees. We are working with
CBSR on the development of a training module and determining the
most effective ways to engage our employees in social responsibility.

Examine options to measure member satisfaction with the existing
complaint resolution process.

This task has been taken on by an internal Customer Help team
and will be ongoing.

Determine member satisfaction with the governance and operations
of Coast Capital Savings.

Annual surveys are undertaken to measure member satisfaction.
Greater emphasis on measuring governance will be applied in 2004.

Expand the Youth Team to the Richmond area.

Seven Richmond high school students were hired in the first year
of the program on the Lower Mainland.

Provide ongoing educational information to members about how
they can contribute to positive social and environmental outcomes
through their personal purchasing decisions.

This information is being provided in part through the ongoing
social responsibility columns in the community newspapers.

Formalize and integrate social and environmental values into
Coast Capital Savings’ purchasing policies and communicate to
employees and suppliers.

The purchasing policy has been revised to reflect social and
environmental commitments. The new policy will be promoted in
concert with a companion guidebook when it becomes available
in early 2004.

Review the social responsibility and environmental practices of
strategic suppliers using our environmental purchasing/procurement
policy as a screening mechanism.

When the guidebook becomes available, employees will be educated
on its use and screening of strategic suppliers will begin.

Create and empower an Environment Committee.

An Environment Committee was formed and met regularly throughout 2003. Numerous initiatives are under way including the delivery
of employee training through “30-minute environmental workouts”
at office locations across the three regions.

Update Code of Environmental Ethics.

An updated Code of Environmental Ethics has been drafted and
approved by the Environment Committee.
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OBJECTIVES

PERFORMANCE

Develop and implement an environmental management system to ensure
that Coast Capital Savings’ Code of Environmental Ethics is shared with,
understood by, and adhered to by all employees and suppliers.

System design has been completed and will be ready for implementation
in 2004.

Introduce transportation policy and guidelines for in-house, businessrelated travel.

A transportation policy has been finalized and circulated. An employee
survey of vanpooling use and interest has been completed. Several
presentations from the Jack Bell Foundation on carpooling, vanpooling,
and ridesharing have also been conducted.

Hire or designate an environmental champion to manage Coast Capital
Savings’ environmental initiatives.

An environmental strategy consultant was hired to provide direction
and counsel regarding the credit union’s environmental impact.

Recognize and reward environmental stewards.

An award for Environmental Steward of the Year was presented to an
employee at a special corporate awards ceremony. Recognition and
reward of environmental stewards is being further explored through a
number of internal and external programs.

Investigate an equivalent for Lower Mainland employees to the BC
Transit Pro-Pass program offered on Vancouver Island.

The TransLink Employer Pass Program has been investigated and will
be available for Lower Mainland employees by the end of the second
quarter of 2004.

Develop a strategic plan to reduce overall environmental impact and
begin implementation.

To be addressed in the Environmental Management System design.

FUTURE OBJECTIVES
1. Develop a common understanding of social
responsibility for Coast Capital Savings
Our 10-year strategic plan outlines a goal to be one of the
top five corporate leaders in Canada. In order to understand
what social responsibility means for our credit union as a
leadership company, we will look at benchmarking and
research. We will explore what social responsibility means
for a leading global company, for a leading Canadian
company, for a leading Canadian financial institution, and
ultimately for Coast Capital Savings.
2. Develop company-wide employee training
It is imperative that we engage employees in understanding
and supporting our social responsibility initiatives. We
will develop an employee engagement strategy and
“Social Responsibility 101” workshops for employees.
3. Engage Coast Capital Savings’ members
If social responsibility is to remain an integral philosophy
of the organization, understanding members’ perspectives
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and priorities about social responsibility is important.
Research results show that half our members say it is
very important that Coast Capital Savings is socially
responsible, and 90% feel it is at least somewhat
important. We now need to analyze these member results
and develop a member engagement strategy.
4. Implement a new strategic community involvement model
We will integrate and harmonize the giving programs within
Coast Capital Savings to a new model for community
investment that is strategically aligned with our new vision
and corporate goals, taking our community partnership
from good to great.
5. Develop and implement a social responsibility
reporting framework
Development and management of social responsibility
performance indicators and reporting is an enterprise-wide
responsibility, which will help to establish Coast Capital
Savings as a leader in this rapidly developing field.
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2000

6,421,467
5,651,445
5,954,508
237,263

2001

6,062,372
5,305,265
5,606,339
201,032

$

126,742
57,795
150,423
26,322

$
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Members’ Equity
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Assets under administration
Mutual funds
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5,496,836
5,755,022
93,407
214,275

81.51
14.37
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11.21
$
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6.00
$
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4,200,555
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10.10
11.96
$

5.06
—
$

910,216
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15.56
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—
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3,163,892
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in thousands of dollars, unless otherwise stated

in thousands of dollars, unless otherwise stated

2002 reflects merger with Surrey Metro Savings Credit Union, effective June 27, 2002.
2000 reflects merger between Richmond Savings Credit Union and Pacific Coast Savings Credit Union, effective December 31, 2000.

2002 reflects merger with Surrey Metro Savings Credit Union, effective June 27, 2002.
2000 reflects merger between Richmond Savings Credit Union and Pacific Coast Savings Credit Union, effective December 31, 2000.

2,917,871

5,305,265

5,651,445
5,651,4
45

2,962,817

3,054,937

5,606,339

5,954,508

As at December 31

Balance sheet
Assets
Loans
Deposits
Members’ equity
2000

2001

2002

2003

Total Loans

147,771

2000

2001

2002

2003

Total Deposits

167,192

201,032

237,263

11,271

18,811

26,322

Results of operations
Net interest income
Other income
Non-interest expenses
Net income

2003

$

$

2000

2001

2002

2003

0.36

2000

2001

2002

2003

Net Income

0.58

0.55

0.60

3.69

3.56

3.13

2001

2002

2003

Net Income as a Percentage of Average Assets

2.80

2001

2002

2003

Non-Interest Expenses as a Percentage of Average Assets

7.43

11.94

14.37

17.49

2000

2001

2002

2003

Net Income as a Percentage of Average Equity
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

> This section of the Annual Report contains details of the operations and financial condition of
Coast Capital Savings Credit Union (CCS), as well as management’s discussion of various forms
of risk inherent in its operations. A section providing a detailed analysis of CCS’s capital structure
is also included.

INTRODUCTION
CCS was initially formed when Pacific Coast Savings Credit Union,
located in Victoria, British Columbia, merged with Richmond
Savings Credit Union, located in Richmond, British Columbia,
on December 31, 2000. Subsequently, on June 27, 2002 CCS
acquired all the assets and assumed all of the liabilities of
Surrey Metro Savings Credit Union (SMS), located in Surrey,
British Columbia.
The heritage credit unions were well-established financial
institutions and were highly profitable operating entities prior
to merging. They had successfully competed with banks and other
financial institutions by providing a high level of customer
service and product quality. The Board of Directors of all three
credit unions believed that in order to continue to successfully
compete, a merger would be necessary in order to provide the
economies of scale required to achieve the operating efficiencies
that would allow for greater competitive resilience in the future.
CCS’s ability to compete successfully with other financial
institutions will enable it to provide its members with unrivalled
customer service in the years to come and continue to allow
it to achieve asset growth in the future without deviating from its
conservative strategy of funding residential first-mortgage loans
primarily with retail deposits.
OVERVIEW
2003 was a year of solid asset growth and improved profitability.
The income statement for 2002 includes the operations of SMS
effective June 27, 2002. As such, year-over-year income statement
dollar comparisons are not included in this year’s Management’s
Discussion and Analysis. A general discussion of the income
statement follows, as well as a description of income statement
items on an average asset basis for the benefit of the reader.

24 Coast Capital Savings 2003 Annual Report

Net income for 2003 was $37.5 million, before merger-related
transition expenses it was $44.5 million. As a result, return on
average assets was 0.60% in 2003, 0.71% before merger-related
transition expenses, as compared to 0.55% in 2002, or 0.61%
before merger-related expenses.
Assets grew in 2003 by 5.9% to $6.4 billion, up from $6.1 billion
in 2002. Total loans were $5.7 billion, up 6.5% from $5.3 billion
in 2002. Total deposits were $6.0 billion, an increase of 6.2% from
$5.6 billion in 2002. Mutual fund assets under administration
increased by 13.2% to $1.0 billion, bringing total assets under
administration to $7.5 billion.
Members’ equity was $237.3 million, up $36.2 million from the prior
year, primarily due to net income generated in 2003.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
Net Interest Income
Interest income continues to be the major source of revenue for
CCS. In 2003, CCS earned interest income of $338.0 million
from borrowers on their loans and from cash resources. Interest
expense, which represents amounts paid by CCS on member
deposits and corporate borrowings, totalled $177.1 million. Net

interest income represents the difference between interest
income and interest expense. Net interest income for 2003 was
$160.9 million. Net interest income, as a percentage of average
assets was 2.57% for 2003, as compared to 2.64% in 2002.

ANALYSIS OF NET INTEREST INCOME
As at December 31
in thousands of dollars

2003

Average
Balance

Cash resources

$

658,533

2002

Interest
Interest Rate (%)

Mix %

10.5 $

21,579

3.28

$

Average
Balance

Mix %

513,847

10.7

Interest
Interest Rate (%)

$

17,358

3.38

Loans:
Residential
Commercial
Personal
Lines of credit

3,688,909
1,093,042
355,560
359,325

58.9
17.5
5.7
5.7

200,775
72,074
21,305
22,236

5.44
6.59
5.99
6.19

2,784,384
859,025
287,848
269,298

58.0
17.9
6.0
5.6

155,064
55,306
17,151
16,838

5.57
6.44
5.96
6.25

Total loans

5,496,836

87.8

316,390

5.76

4,200,555

87.5

244,359

5.82

Other assets

—

—

84,342

1.8

—

—

Total

$ 6,259,735

100.0 $

337,969

5.40

$ 4,798,744

100.0

$

261,717

5.45

Deposits:
Demand
Term
RRSP

$ 1,339,668
2,962,284
1,453,069

21.4 $
47.3
23.2

6,272
104,294
59,741

0.47
3.52
4.11

$ 1,072,479
2,188,895
1,146,216

22.3
45.6
23.9

$

5,075
76,560
47,388

0.47
3.50
4.13

5,755,022

91.9

170,307

2.96

4,407,590

91.8

129,024

2.93

93,407
42,422
20,953

1.5
0.7
0.3

3,114
2,426
1,258

3.33
5.72
6.00

128,647
25,641
—

2.7
0.5
—

4,485
1,466
—

3.49
5.72
—

5,911,804

94.4

177,105

3.00

4,561,878

95.0

134,975

2.96

131,758
50,603
165,571

2.1
0.8
2.7

—
—
—

—
—
—

52,388
45,681
138,797

1.1
1.0
2.9

—
—
—

—
—
—

100.0 $

177,105

2.83

$ 4,798,744

100.0

$

134,975

2.81

$

160,864

2.57

$

126,742

2.64

Total deposits
Borrowings
Subordinated notes
Class C shares
Total financial liabilities
Other liabilities
Class B shares
Retained earnings
Total
Net interest income

104,366

$ 6,259,735

1.7
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Other Income
Other income is income that is not interest related. This includes
items such as charges for banking services, insurance and mutual
fund commissions, securitization revenues, and foreign exchange
income. CCS encourages a “user-pay” philosophy as much as
possible, especially in relation to its deposit accounts and financial
services, and reviews service charges annually to ensure adequate
returns while maintaining market competitiveness.

Capital Expenditures/Premises and Equipment
In 2003, CCS undertook the following capital expenditures for
general renovations, capital replacements, new signage, banking
system enhancements, and the relocation of the administration
office in Victoria:

Other income in 2003 was $62.1 million. Other income as a
percentage of average assets was 0.99% in 2003, as compared
to 1.20% in 2002. Securitization revenues contributed $2.9 million
to other income in 2003, down from $7.5 million in 2002 as a
result of decreased mortgage sales. Foreign exchange income
also declined in 2003 to $0.7 million versus $1.9 million in 2002,
due to a rapidly strengthening Canadian dollar. The disposal
of various real estate assets and other investments generated
a non-recurring gain of $4.5 million.

Building renovations and improvements $
Leasehold improvements
Computer equipment/software
Furniture and equipment

Non-interest Expenses
Non-interest expenses represent all costs that are not interest
related, excluding provisions for credit losses and income taxes.
It includes staff salaries and benefits, occupancy, data processing,
marketing, deposit insurance assessments, Credit Union Central
of British Columbia (CUCBC) dues, provincial capital taxes,
and transition costs. Total non-interest expenses in 2003 were
$175.1 million. Non-interest expenses as a percentage of average
assets was 2.80% in 2003, as compared to 3.13% in 2002.
Staffing costs, including incentive compensation, were $94.3 million
in 2003. The incentive program is reviewed by the Board of
Directors on a regular basis and can be revised to reflect prevailing
economic conditions.
In 2003, the Credit Union Deposit Insurance Corporation (CUDIC)
reviewed its actuarial basis for insurance assessment premiums
and concluded that it did not need to charge an assessment fee.
In 2002, CCS was assessed a charge of $1.1 million.
Supported by member research, funds previously earmarked for
patronage dividends have been re-allocated to retained earnings
and enhanced community programs.
Transition-related expenses, as a result of the merger with SMS,
were $8.8 million in 2003, as compared to $3.4 million in 2002.
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Years ended December 31
in thousands of dollars

Total

2003

$

2002

312
2,686
6,266
4,166

$

529
622
5,638
994

13,430

$

7,783

Does not include asset disposals.

Loans
Total loans as at December 31, 2003 were $5.7 billion, compared
with $5.3 billion at the previous year-end, an increase of 6.5%.
CCS aggressively competes for, and is a major holder of, residential
first mortgages in the Lower Mainland and the Victoria area on
Vancouver Island. It grants mortgages to individuals according
to conventional mortgage-lending standards for residential
properties. CCS offers closed fixed-rate mortgages, open variablerate and fixed-rate mortgages, written with terms of 6 months
to 10 years.
At December 31, 2003, CCS’s portfolio of residential mortgage
loans totalled $4.0 billion, representing 71.5% of total loans
outstanding, compared with 70.5% of total loans as at
December 31, 2002.
Personal loans to members include installment loans, demand
loans, retail leases and lines of credit. CCS also offers a menu
of credit cards. Under the arrangement, CCS does not carry the
receivables owing from its credit card holders but earns a fee
based on the total net purchases generated by its credit card
holders, as well as a per-card fee.
At December 31, 2003, CCS had a personal loan portfolio of
$0.5 billion representing 8.6% of total loans outstanding,
compared with $0.5 billion and representing 9.0% of total loans
as at December 31, 2002.

Commercial lending consists primarily of first-mortgage loans to
small-and medium-sized businesses for real estate projects.
The types of mortgages offered are similar to residential mortgages,
except the maximum term is limited to five years. Although CCS
also conducts other forms of commercial lending, including small
business lending and commercial leases, these constitute a small
portion of the commercial loan portfolio.
At December 31, 2003, CCS’s commercial loan portfolio totalled
$1.1 billion, representing 19.9% of total loans outstanding,
compared with $1.1 billion, representing 20.6% of total loans
as at December 31, 2002. Prior to the sale of commercial
mortgages, in the amount of $43 million, commercial loan growth
would have been 6.8%.

CCS maintains conservative lending policies and holds no foreign
loans. CCS’s policy limits its commercial lending up to $1.5 billion
or to the regulatory maximum of 20% of its total assets, which
ever is the lesser. Late in 2003, the Ministry of Finance, by order
in council, increased this maximum to 30% and it is likely that
CCS will begin to move towards this new limit in 2004. The
maximum loan exposure to any one borrower is also limited to
the lesser of $15.0 million or 10% of CCS’s aggregate share
capital, retained earnings and subordinated notes. CCS has no
loans outstanding which exceed its internal limit. These limits
are included in CCS’s internal investment and lending policy,
which is filed annually with the Superintendent of Financial
Institutions of British Columbia.

LOAN PORTFOLIO
As at December 31

2003

Total (1)
in millions
of dollars

Number

in
percent

Average in
thousands
of dollars

2002

Number

Individuals
Mortgages:
Conventional
Revenue
Progressive
Insured
High-ratio
PLC (2) (mortgage secured)

21,153 $
1,298
378
6,106
1,100
8,697

2,400
163
36
901
199
348

42.4 $
2.9
0.6
15.9
3.5
6.1

113
126
96
148
181
40

20,916
1,377
303
6,116
1,129
8,170

Subtotal mortgages

38,732

4,047

71.5

104

Other:
Retail leasing
PLC (2) (other)
Personal loans

1,192
81,567
30,924

17
144
328

0.3
2.5
5.8

Subtotal other

113,683

489

Subtotal individuals

152,415

4,536

Commercial
Commercial loans
Commercial leasing

5,709
1,393

1,072
52

Subtotal other

Total (1)
in millions
of dollars

$

in
percent

Average in
thousands
of dollars

2,165
168
29
873
188
318

40.8 $
3.2
0.5
16.4
3.5
6.0

104
122
96
143
166
39

38,011

3,741

70.5

98

14
2
11

920
79,322
31,920

11
142
323

0.2
2.7
6.1

12
2
10

8.6

4

112,162

475

9.0

4

80.1

30

150,173

4,216

79.4

28

18.9
0.9

188
37

5,598
1,124

1,045
46

19.7
0.9

187
41

7,102

1,124

19.9

158

6,722

1,091

20.6

162

Subtotal individuals and commercial
Accrued interest

159,517

5,660
15

100.0

35

156,895

5,307
15

100.0

34

Total loan portfolio

159,517

5,675

100.0

36

156,895

5,322

100.0 $

34

$

$

$

(1) Before allowance for credit losses
(2) Personal Line of Credit
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Allowance for Credit Losses
CCS has an established policy of providing allowances to cover
potential credit losses. It is reviewed on an ongoing basis and
if potential credit losses are identified, a specific allowance is
established. In 2003, provision for credit losses was $8.9 million,
as compared to $3.9 million in 2002. This additional provision
increased total allowance for credit losses to $23.3 million or
0.41% of total loans as at December 31, 2003, bringing CCS’s
ratio more in line with industry standards. As at December 31,
2002, the total allowance for credit losses represented 0.32%
of total loans. During the year impaired loans increased by
$11.4 million to $26.1 million. Although no material losses
are anticipated at this time, it was deemed prudent to increase
the provisions for credit losses by $5.0 million in 2003.
ASSET QUALITY COVERAGE
As at December 31
in thousands of dollars

Total loans
Provision for credit losses (PCL)
Loan write-offs, net of recoveries
Total allowance
Impaired loans
Members' equity

2003

2002

$ 5,651,445
8,937
2,518
23,303
26,125
237,263

$ 5,305,265
3,872
3,455
16,884
14,701
201,032

in percent

PCL as % of total loans
Loan write-offs as % of total loans
Impaired as % of total loans
Impaired as % of members' equity
Total allowance as % of impaired loans
Total allowance as % of total loans

0.16
0.04
0.46
11.01
89.20
0.41

0.07
0.07
0.28
7.31
114.85
0.32

Deposits
Total deposits as at December 31, 2003 were $6.0 billion, compared
with $5.6 billion for the previous year, an increase of 6.2%. Agency
and institutional deposits accounted for $1.3 billion or 21.5%
of total deposits in 2002, as compared to $1.2 billion or 20.8%
in 2002. Retail deposit growth was solid throughout the year,
considerably better than in previous years. Funds continued to
flow from equity markets into safer haven investment vehicles,
which included deposits with financial institutions.
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CCS offers a full range of personal deposit services and products,
including chequing accounts, savings accounts, and term deposits.
All deposit accounts are in Canadian funds, with the exception of
a special US dollar chequing account and US dollar short-term
deposits. CCS is also active in the registered retirement savings plan
(RRSP) market, offering term and variable RRSPs and registered
retirement income funds (RRIFs).
At December 31, 2003, total demand deposits represented 22.8%
of total deposits, compared with 21.9% in the previous year.
Demand deposits saw significant growth as members opted not
to immediately renew maturing term deposits and instead, wait
until interest rates rise to more historically normal levels. Term
deposits represented 52.9%, compared with 52.1% in 2002,
and term registered savings plans represented 25.1%, compared
with 26.0% in 2002.
Borrowings
CCS maintains a loan facility with CUCBC. Outstanding amounts
under this facility fluctuated in the normal course of business
during the year. As at year-end, the total borrowings outstanding
were $80 million.
RISK MANAGEMENT
Coast Capital Saving’s goal is to achieve consistent optimal
earnings, over the long term, within acceptable parameters of
risk. In order to achieve this goal, CCS has adopted a strategic,
risk-based approach to identify and manage the potential risks
it faces in today’s complex legal and financial world, on an
enterprise-wide basis.
Risk management is an ongoing process. CCS’s risk management
practices are reviewed annually by the Board of Directors, and
the Superintendent of Financial Institutions of British Columbia
reviews any changes for prudence. The Board of Directors also
reviews monthly reports on areas of risk. The four principal areas
of risk that CCS monitors and manages include; operational,
market, credit, and liquidity/investment risk.
Operational Risk
Operational risk is the risk of loss associated with inadequate
or failed internal processes, people and systems, or from external
sources. As such, operational risk covers a broad range of
risks all of which can impact financial performance. At CCS,
operational risk is managed under the following key risk areas
(KRAs): reputation, transition, regulatory compliance, wealth
management business continuity, technology, and operational
compliance risks.

Reputation risk is one of the most significant risks facing
CCS and is considered extremely important and integral in all
of CCS’s KRAs. Reputation is described as being an institution’s
greatest asset and in a financial institution, reputation and
brand value are essential in providing member confidence.
Transition risk has become visible over the last couple of years
with the merging of three credit unions. The potential risk
of uncertainty as a result of name changes, product changes,
advertising, and banking system conversions has increased
over this period. As such, many steps have been taken to ensure
a heightened awareness to curtail any potential challenges.
Regulatory compliance risk includes meeting our statutory
obligations as it regards to the Proceeds of Crime (Money
Laundering) Terrorist Financing Act, and the more recent British
Columbia Personal Information Protection Act.
Wealth management risk is largely the risk of non-compliance by
CCS employees as it pertains to the many statutes and regulations
as set-out by government bodies, associated with the wealth
management and investment services provided to CCS’s members.
Business continuity risk deals with the catastrophic interruption
to business operations due to a disaster, and given CCS’s
primary business location, this would likely come in the form
of a major earthquake. Business continuity plans are constantly
being reviewed, upgraded, and implemented to ensure that
operations quickly resume after such an event, minimizing the
potential financial impact.
Technology and operational compliance risk primarily consists
of the banking system’s integrity and internet banking
security, as well as adherence by CCS personnel to policies
and administrative procedures.
CCS continually assesses and develops strategies within
specific areas to identify, monitor, and ultimately mitigate any
potential risks. While it is realized that these risks cannot be
fully eliminated, proactive management of these risks, to within
acceptable levels, is the primary goal at CCS. Strategies resulting
from these specific areas form the basis of the Annual Risk
Management Plan. This plan is approved by the Finance & Audit
Committee of the Board of Directors.

Market Risk
Market risk is the potential for loss from changes in the value of
financial instruments, as a result of changes in interest rates and
foreign exchange rates. Reporting to the Chief Financial Officer,
the Vice President, Treasury is responsible for preparing, executing,
and monitoring risk strategies in this area.
Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the negative impact that a change in interest
rates could potentially have on CCS’s net interest income. Interest
rate risk arises when there is a difference in the amount of assets
and liabilities that mature within a similar period.
A high proportion of CCS’s assets are in the form of residential
first-mortgages, and like any other financial institution, CCS’s
annual profitability depends to a considerable extent on its ability
to manage the maturities and yields of these assets against the
maturities and costs of the liabilities funding them.
CCS closely manages its interest rate risk through various strategies
designed to optimize the return to CCS of differences between
deposit and loan rates for different maturities. An asset and liability
management committee (ALCO) comprised of the Chief Executive
Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Chief
Credit Officer, and various other executives and senior managers
meets regularly to review and monitor asset-and liability-related
activities and initiate changes when necessary.
The differentials shown in the table on page 30 for different
maturities change on an ongoing basis and to some extent are
dependent on the interest rate expectations held by the mortgage,
loan, and deposit members of CCS. As previously noted, this
information is monitored by management on a regular basis to
ensure early identification of any trends that are developing, or any
differentials that require modification. Through computer modelling
techniques, CCS determines its interest rate risk on a monthly
basis. The modelling determines the effect that rising or falling
interest rates would have on pretax income and market value
over the next 12 months. If the interest rate risk is approaching a
level above policy guidelines, the largest differentials are reduced
through either conventional means, such as deposit campaigns
and mortgage securitizations, or through so-called synthetic
means by employing derivative instruments such as interest rate
swaps. As at year-end, CCS held $235.0 million in derivatives
for interest rate risk management purposes.
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ASSET AND LIABILITY MATURITIES
As at December 31
in thousands of dollars

2003

Assets

Liabilities/
Equity

$ 1,462,334

$ 1,469,866

Interest sensitive
Maturing within 1 year

1,247,030

2,799,362

Maturing between
1-2 years
2-3 years
3-4 years
4-5 years
Non-interest bearing items (1)

847,968
862,474
566,859
1,050,740
384,062

630,258
435,849
413,843
320,079
352,210

$ 6,421,467

$ 6,421,467

Variable rate

Assets

(7,532)

$ 1,469,259

$ 1,408,742

(1,552,332)

1,285,784

2,590,013

(1,304,229)

217,710
426,625
153,016
730,661
31,852

784,171
1,081,960
584,785
690,528
165,885

836,362
275,601
237,639
428,807
285,208

(52,191)
806,359
347,146
261,721
(119,323)

—

$ 6,062,372

$ 6,062,372

Differential

$

$

2002

Liabilities/
Equity

Differential

$

60,517

$

—

(1) Assets include cash, accrued interest receivable, premises and equipment, and other items.
Liabilities include accrued interest payable and other items.

Normally, rapidly falling interest rates would have a neutral to
positive impact on CCS’s net interest income over a 12-month
period. This is because a greater portion of CCS’s liabilities will
reprice over this period than its assets. However, with interest
rates at 40-year lows, falling interest rates actually have a
negative impact on CCS’s net interest income, as a large portion
of CCS’s assets are still able to reprice lower while many of its
liabilities can no longer go any lower. This “margin squeeze” will
dissipate once rates rise back to more historically normal levels.

CCS typically acquires more US dollars from its members than
it sells, and as such always tends to be “long” in US dollars.
Over the past 10 years, this has worked in CCS’s favour as the
Canadian dollar continually weakened over this period. In 2003,
the Canadian dollar suddenly reversed this trend. The Canadian
dollar strengthened rapidly from $0.62 USD towards the end
of December 2002, to over $0.73 USD by May 2003, and to over
$0.77 USD by year-end. As a result, CCS’s foreign exchange
income was $0.7 million in 2003, versus $1.9 million in 2002.

Most financial institutions tend to deem a prudent level of
asset/liability mismatching to be necessary in order to enhance
profitability. The challenge is to find the level of mismatch that
will optimize net interest income while maintaining an acceptable
level of risk.

The change that occurred in the value of the Canadian dollar
in 2003 was historically significant. And even under this
stress test, CCS’s foreign exchange risk mitigation policy was
still effective in substantially reducing the possible negative
impact that the strengthening dollar could have had on CCS’s
financial performance.

Foreign Exchange Risk
Foreign exchange risk refers to losses that could result from changes
to foreign currency rates. Any assets or liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies have foreign exchange risk. At CCS, all our
foreign exchange risk comes from US dollar (USD) transactions.
The risk occurs through our offering USD chequing and savings
accounts to our members. We mitigate this risk by holding USD
investments against these USD deposits. CCS’s investment policy
stipulates the maximum difference permitted between the USD
deposits we hold and the USD investments needed to protect
ourselves against rapid changes in USD exchange rates.
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Credit Risk
Credit risk is the potential for financial loss if a borrower fails to
meet its obligations. CCS’s system for controlling the risk of
borrowers defaulting on loan obligations is based upon strict
adherence to clearly defined credit policies and credit approval
procedures, as developed and maintained by the Chief Credit
Officer (CCO). Authority for loan approval to specified limits is
also granted to officers by the CCO, with the guidelines reviewed
annually by the Board of Directors. Loan approval limits are
established based upon the experience and qualifications of the
individuals involved. If a proposed loan is beyond the lending

limit prescribed for branch management, it is forwarded to the
Senior Manager, Retail Credit, or the CCO, depending on the size
of the loan. If a loan is beyond the internal lending limit prescribed
for the CCO, it is then submitted to one of three credit committees:
retail management credit, senior credit, or executive credit for
final approval.
New lending in each branch is reviewed on a regular basis to
ensure adherence to policy guidelines and general credit quality.
Loans requiring collection are removed from the branch level
and centralized for further follow-up.
Liquidity/Investment Risk
As required by the Financial Institutions Act of British Columbia
(FIA), 10% of CCS’s total deposits and borrowings must be held
in a liquidity portfolio comprised of investments with maturities,
usually ranging from overnight to five years. As part of this
regulation, CCS is required to hold statutory liquidity with Credit
Union Central of British Columbia (CUCBC) equalling 1.5% of the
British Columbia credit union system’s assets, which presently
amounts to approximately 8.0% of CCS’s deposits and borrowings.
These deposits provide yields similar to those of Government of
Canada T-bills or bonds. In addition to the liquidity portfolio held
at CUCBC, the remaining 2.0% can either be held inside or
outside of CUCBC. CCS’s investment policy specifies the minimum
rating and certain single investment exposures for investments
made outside of CUCBC. In general, liquidity invested outside of
CUCBC is invested in financial instruments that are rated R-1 low
(A-) or higher.
It is CCS’s intention to maintain a total liquidity portfolio in
the range of 11.0% of total deposits and borrowings. It is
management’s view that this level will provide CCS with an
operating cushion in the event of rapid asset growth or sudden
deposit declines and still allow CCS to meet its regulatory
requirements, without unduly effecting profitability. Liquidity
levels are monitored daily within the Treasury Department.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
CCS’s capital requirements are regulated by the Financial
Institutions Commission (FICOM) using the risk-weighted approach
developed by the Bank for International Settlements (BIS). FICOM
established a minimum capital standard based on a ratio of
capital-to-risk-weighted assets of 8.0%. At least 50% of a credit
union’s capital base, for the purpose of meeting the standard,
must consist of primary capital, known as Tier 1, comprised of
share capital and retained earnings, less intangible assets, and
future income taxes. Secondary capital, known as Tier 2, includes
subordinated notes, share capital, and 50% of a credit union’s
portion of retained earnings in the Credit Union Deposit Insurance
Corporation (CUDIC), CUCBC, and Stabilization Central Credit
Union (Stab Central). A credit union’s assets are weighted
according to six categories of relative risk ranging from 0% to
200%. Residential mortgages, the largest portion of CCS’s
assets, are risk-weighted at 50%, while commercial loans, the
second largest portion, are risk-weighted at 100%.
CCS monitors its capital levels monthly. Its capital plan is updated
annually, providing a forecast of capital requirements over a
five-year horizon. In 2003, CCS raised additional capital by way
of issuing Class C Equity shares to its members. The shares were
offered as a 6-year instrument, yielding 6.0%. The $39.4 million
raised from this issue was used to increase CCS’s capital base,
and applied to general funds for general corporate purposes,
including the retirement of $16.5 million of certain subordinated
notes forming part of CCS’s existing capital base.
As at December 31, 2003, CCS had a total capital ratio of
9.64%, as compared to 8.27% in 2002. CCS is committed to a
strong capital position, with a goal of maintaining its capital
ratio above 9.0%.
The tables on page 32 show the levels of CCS’s capital and its
risk-weighted assets under the BIS requirements:

CCS’s liquidity levels are managed through a number of different
avenues, including generating deposit growth, by introducing
new retail products or promoting existing ones, and/or offering
competitive rates. CCS also has the ability to increase its borrowing
relationship with CUCBC up to $900 million, and finally, through
the securitization of mortgages.
At December 31, 2003, CCS’s liquidity was 10.94% of total deposits
and borrowings.
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TIER 1 AND TIER 2 CAPITAL
As at December 31
in thousands of dollars

2003

Tier 1 Capital
Class B shares (1)
Membership Class A shares
Retained earnings
Future income taxes

$

Less: Capital deductions

Tier 2 Capital
Subordinated notes (2)
Portion of equity in CUCBC, CUDIC, and Stab Central (3)
Class B shares
Class C shares

2002

26,669 $
1,454
186,404
(11,114)

25,062
1,456
150,485
(5,189)

203,413

171,814

(15,121)

(16,782)

188,292

155,032

33,500
37,018
25,701
39,355

45,300
34,994
25,284
—

135,574
Total capital

$

323,866

105,578
$

260,610

(1) Portion of shares, based on limited redemption rights.
(2) Net amount deemed as capital.
(3) Portion of System Retained Earnings x 50%.

RISK-WEIGHTED ASSETS
As at December 31
in thousands of dollars

Cash resources
Commercial paper
Residential mortgages
Insured mortgages
High-ratio mortgages
Personal loans
Commercial loans and leasing
Revenue property
Other assets/investments
Off-balance sheet exposure
Capital deductions

$

2003

2002

Balance
Sheet
Amount

Balance
Sheet
Amount

566,951
107,012
2,878,121
893,296
232,383
524,991
1,129,339
89,374

$ 6,421,467

$

582,469
73,094
2,596,970
886,036
185,367
550,668
1,093,737
2,604
91,427
—

2003

2002

RiskWeighted
Balance

RiskWeighted
Balance

0 $
— $
—
0-100
61,772
48,174
50
1,439,061
1,298,485
0
—
—
100
232,383
185,367
0-80
419,993
443,025
100
1,129,339
1,093,737
150
—
3,906
100
89,374
91,427
0-100
4,351
2,034
(15,121)
(16,782)
$ 3,361,151

$ 3,149,373

in percent

2003

2002

Ratio of capital to risk-weighted assets:
Primary capital to risk-weighted assets
Secondary capital to risk-weighted assets

5.60
4.04

4.92
3.35

Total capital ratio

9.64

8.27
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$ 6,062,372

BIS Risk
Weight
(%)

—

WEALTH MANAGEMENT/SUBSIDIARIES
Investing and financial planning continues to be a complex area.
With the uncertainty in equity markets over the past several
years, it has become imperative that CCS provide sophisticated
advice and help that will provide an even greater resource for
its members to grow and prosper in the years ahead.
As part of this activity, CCS markets mutual funds. These
funds provide our members with another investment option and
provide CCS with an alternative source of fee income. Recovery
in the equity markets in 2003 helped to fuel fund sales. As at
December 31, 2003, CCS had mutual and segregated funds
under administration for its members totalling $1.0 billion, as
compared to $0.9 billion in 2002. These assets are not reflected
on the consolidated balance sheets.
In 2003, as part of the integration process, CCS moved to Coast
Capital Investments as its primary mutual funds dealer.
Previously, SMS had been using Credential Securities Incorporated.
Coast Capital Investments is a partnership between CCS and
Coast Capital Insurance Services Ltd., which is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CCS.
CCS has a number of subsidiaries that provide complementary
financial services. Through these operations, members are able to
purchase various forms of insurance and invest in mutual funds
and/or the equity markets. Also acting as real estate and mortgage
brokers and deposit agents, some subsidiaries not only help members
within our trading area, but provide services to members beyond
CCS’s traditional reach.
OUTLOOK
Loans and Deposits
Real estate activity in CCS’s market area is expected to remain
strong. Low interest rates continue to be the main driver for this
activity, and are expected to remain relatively subdued throughout
2004. Management expects that mortgage and commercial lending,
as well as leasing growth, will be similar to those experienced
in 2003.

North American stock markets recovered substantially. As such,
the positive impact felt on CCS’s deposit-gathering activities
in 2003 as investors became disenchanted by mutual fund
returns, could now begin to wane. CCS will continue to explore
new innovative deposit products to offset a potential decrease
in traditional deposits, and at the same time, explore new avenues
to diversify its overall funding sources.
Income
Based on the current level of interest rates, and a forecast of
slightly decreasing rates, CCS is anticipating net interest income,
expressed as a percentage of average assets, to remain in the
range of last year’s levels. We are budgeting non-interest
expenses, also expressed as a percentage of assets, to continue
to decline as a result of improved efficiencies. Transition costs are
expected to be minimal in 2004, since most of CCS’s integration
activities are nearing completion.
Integration
Towards the end of 2003, integration activities included switching
our loan insurance underwriters from Credit Union Insurance
Services to CRI Canada Inc.
Effective January 1, 2004, CCS launched its new suite of deposit and
loan products as part of its integration initiatives. These products
are expected to be available at all of CCS’s branches when the
banking system integration is complete in June. Following the
banking system conversion, CCS will have concluded its core
integration efforts. Our ongoing focus on creating value for our
stakeholders, combined with our initiatives to improve operating
efficiencies, should produce solid financial results in 2004.

Note regarding forward-looking statements:
This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements about the operations, objectives, and expected financial performance of Coast Capital Savings.
These statements are subject to risks and uncertainties. Actual results may differ depending on a number of factors, including but not limited to
legislative or regulatory changes, interest rates, and general economic conditions in British Columbia and Canada. These issues should be given careful
consideration and readers should not place undue reliance on Coast Capital Savings’ forward-looking statements.
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MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY & AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY
The consolidated financial statements and all other information
contained in the Annual Report are the responsibility of
management and have been approved by the Board of Directors.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by
management in accordance with the requirements of the Credit
Union Incorporation Act and appropriate generally accepted
accounting principles in Canada and include amounts based on
informed judgments and estimates of the expected effects of
current events and transactions. Financial information presented
elsewhere in this Annual Report is consistent with that in the
consolidated financial statements.
In meeting its responsibility for the reliability of financial data,
management relies on comprehensive internal accounting,
operating, and system controls. Controls include an organizational
structure providing for effective segregation of responsibilities,
delegation of authority and personal accountability, and careful
selection and training of personnel; the application of accounting
and administrative policies and procedures necessary to ensure
adequate internal control over transactions, assets and records;
as well as a continued program of extensive internal audits.
These controls are designed to provide reasonable assurance that
financial records are reliable for preparing financial statements
and maintaining accountability for assets, and that assets are
safeguarded against unauthorized use or disposition. The Board
of Directors has appointed an Audit Committee, comprised of five
Directors, to review with management and auditors the annual
financial statements prior to submission to the Board of Directors
for final approval.
KPMG LLP has been appointed by the membership as independent
auditors to examine and report on the consolidated financial
statements and their report appears at right. They have full and
free access to the internal audit staff and the Audit Committee
of the Board.

Lloyd Craig
President and
Chief Executive Officer

Hermann Bessert
Chief Financial Officer
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AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS
We have audited the consolidated balance sheet of Coast
Capital Savings Credit Union as at December 31, 2003, and the
consolidated statements of income and retained earnings and
cash flows for the year then ended. These consolidated financial
statements are the responsibility of Coast Capital Savings Credit
Union's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we
plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation.
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Coast
Capital Savings Credit Union as at December 31, 2003, and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. As required by the British Columbia Financial
Institutions Act, we report that, in our opinion, these principles
have been applied on a basis consistent with the preceding year.

Chartered Accountants
Vancouver, Canada
February 13, 2004

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
As at December 31

All tabulated in thousands of dollars, unless otherwise stated

Notes

Assets:
Cash resources
Investments
Loans
Premises and equipment
Other

2
6
3,4,5
7
8

2003

2002

$

237,679
439,551
5,651,445
42,729
50,063

$

255,988
409,110
5,305,265
43,927
48,082

$

6,421,467

$

6,062,372

$

5,954,508
80,000
76,841

$

5,606,339
131,000
74,001

Liabilities:
Deposits
Borrowings
Other

9
10
11

Subordinated notes

12

Class C shares

13

$

39,355

$

—

Members’ equity:
Class B shares
Retained earnings

14

$

50,859
186,404

$

50,346
150,686

$

6,421,467

$

6,062,372

6,111,349

5,811,340

33,500

50,000

237,263

Commitments and contingent liabilities

201,032

18

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

On behalf of the Board:

Bill Wellburn
Director

Tom Kirstein
Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
Year ended December 31

All tabulated in thousands of dollars, unless otherwise stated

Notes

Interest income:
Loans
Cash resources and investments

2003

$

316,390
21,579

2002

$

244,359
17,358

337,969

261,717

171,565
5,540

129,024
5,951

177,105

134,975

Interest expense:
Deposits
Borrowings

Net interest income
Provision for credit losses
Other income
Gains on disposal of properties

Non-interest expenses:
Salaries and employee benefits
Administration
Technology
Occupancy
Transition costs

160,864

126,742

4

8,937

3,872

15

151,927
62,128
4,467

122,870
57,832
—

218,522

180,702

94,259
34,439
17,954
19,642
8,822

78,559
34,491
17,502
16,490
3,381

175,116

150,423

43,406

30,279

5,933

3,957

16

11

Income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes

17

Net income

$

37,473

$

26,322

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF RETAINED EARNINGS
Year ended December 31
Notes

Retained earnings, beginning of year
Net income
Dividends on Class B shares, net of income taxes
Retained earnings, end of year
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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2003

2002

$

150,686
37,473
1,755

$

126,176
26,322
1,812

$

186,404

$

150,686

14

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended December 31

All tabulated in thousands of dollars, unless otherwise stated

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments for:
Amortization of premises, equipment
Future income taxes
Provision for credit losses
Write-down for impairment of property held
Changes in accrued interest receivable and payable
Changes in other non-cash operating items

Notes

2003

$
7
17
4

37,473

2002

$

26,322

11,510
(5,753)
8,937
646
4,004
9,068

8,717
(2,238)
3,872
1,400
(13,354)
9,739

65,885

34,458

(398,033)
(54,248)
(10,312)
—
—

(548,973)
23,953
(7,422)
(87,843)
(2,067)

(462,593)

(622,352)

42,874
(51,000)
39,355
(16,500)
(1,244)
342,006
(3,100)

280,823
5,800
—
50,000
(479)
288,521
(3,042)

Cash flows from financing activities

352,391

621,623

Net increase (decrease) in cash resources

(44,317)

33,729

Cash and short-term investments, beginning of year

142,326

108,597

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash flows used in investing activities:
Net increase in loans
Net decrease (increase) in investments
Net purchase of premises and equipment
Acquisition of SMS less cash resources
Acquisition of subsidiaries

24
24

Cash flows used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from mortgage securitizations
Net increase (decrease) in borrowings
Proceeds from issuance of Class C shares
Proceeds from issuance (repayment) of subordinated notes
Net redemption of Class A and B shares
Net increase in deposits
Payment of cash dividends

Cash and short term investments, end of year

10
13
12
14

$

98,009

$

142,326

$

(170,304)
(7,209)

$

(151,765)
(8,502)

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Interest paid during the year
Income taxes paid during the year
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended December 31, 2003. All amounts in thousands of dollars, unless otherwise stated.

Coast Capital Savings Credit Union (CCS) is incorporated under
the British Columbia Credit Union Incorporation Act, and its
subsidiaries are incorporated under the British Columbia Company
Act. The operation of CCS is regulated under the British Columbia
Financial Institutions Act. CCS serves members principally in the
Lower Mainland, Fraser Valley, and southern Vancouver Island
regions of British Columbia.
1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the balance sheet date and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.
Principles of Consolidation
These consolidated financial statements include the financial
position, operating results, and cash flows of CCS, its active
subsidiaries Coast Capital Insurance Services Ltd. (CCIS), Coast
Capital Investments (a partnership between CCS and CCIS),
Coast Capital Real Estate Ltd., U-Select Financial and Insurance
Services Ltd., Shoreline Projects Ltd., Rising Tide Development
Corporation, 615488 B.C. Ltd., and various inactive subsidiaries.
All inter-company transactions and balances have been eliminated.
Business Combination
Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase
method. On May 22, 2002, the members and non-voting shareholders
of Surrey Metro Savings Credit Union (SMS) voted in favour of a
business combination with CCS effective June 27, 2002 (Note 24).
Cash Resources
For the purposes of the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows,
cash resources comprise balances with less than 90 days maturity
from the date of acquisition, including cash and deposits with
Credit Union Central of British Columbia, treasury bills and other
eligible bills, amounts due from other banks and cheques, and
other items in transit.
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Investments
Investments are recorded at cost plus accrued interest, except
where there is a loss in value that is determined by management
to be other than temporary. In such cases, the investment is
written down to recognize the loss.
Loans
Loans are stated at the amount of unpaid principal plus accrued
interest net of allowance for credit losses.
Interest income is recorded on the accrual basis. Accrued but
uncollected interest is reversed whenever loans are determined
to be impaired. CCS classifies a loan as impaired when, in the
opinion of management, there is reasonable doubt as to the
ultimate collectibility, either in whole or in part, of principal or
interest. Loans where interest or principal is contractually past
due 90 days are automatically placed on an impaired basis, unless
management determines there is no reasonable doubt as to
the ultimate collectibility of principal and interest. All loans are
classified as impaired when interest or principal is past due
180 days. When a loan is classified as impaired, interest income
is recognized on a cash basis only after any specific provisions
or partial write-offs have been recovered and provided there is no
further doubt as to the collectibility of principal.
Loan Fees
Loan origination fees, including commitment, renewal, and
renegotiation fees, are considered to be adjustments to loan yield
and are deferred and amortized to loan interest income over the
term of the loans.
Allowance for Credit Losses
CCS maintains an allowance for credit losses, which, in management’s
opinion, is considered adequate to provide for credit-related losses.
The allowance is increased for loan impairment by a charge to
income and reduced by write-offs net of recoveries.
A specific allowance is established on an individual loan basis
to reduce the carrying values to the loan’s estimated realizable
amount. The estimated realizable amounts are determined by
discounting the expected future cash flows at the effective
interest rate inherent in the loans. When the amounts and timing
of future cash flows cannot be reliably determined, estimated
realizable amounts are determined by reference to market prices
for the loans or their underlying security.

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
CCS maintains a general allowance to absorb credit losses that
management estimates have occurred at the balance sheet date
for which specific allowances cannot yet be determined. CCS
applies a methodology that incorporates loan loss history as the
basis for estimating probability of default and loss for various
credit portfolios that exhibit similar loan loss characteristics.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the price paid over the fair value
of net assets as a result of an acquisition accounted for using the
purchase method. Goodwill is not amortized; however, it is reviewed
annually for impairment. If goodwill is determined to be impaired
it is recognized as a charge to income in the period in which the
impairment is determined.

Write-offs are generally recorded after all reasonable restructuring
or collection activities have taken place and the possibility of further
recovery is considered to be remote.

Derivative-Financial Instruments
Derivative-financial instruments are financial contracts whose
value is derived from interest rates, foreign exchange rates, or
other financial indices.

Transfers of Mortgage Receivables
Transfers of mortgages to unrelated parties are treated as sales,
provided that control over the transferred mortgages has been
surrendered and consideration other than beneficial interests in
the transferred mortgages has been received in exchange. If these
criteria are not satisfied, then the transfers are treated as financing
transactions. If treated as sales, the mortgages are removed from
the consolidated balance sheet, and a gain or loss is recognized
in other income based on the carrying value of the loans transferred,
allocated between the assets sold and the retained interests in
proportion to their fair values at the date of transfer. The fair
values of mortgages sold, retained interests, and recourse liabilities
are determined using either quoted market prices or pricing
models that take into account management’s best estimates of
key assumptions such as expected losses, prepayments, and
discount rates commensurate with either the risks involved or sales
of similar assets. Where CCS continues to service the mortgages
sold, a servicing liability is recognized and amortized over the
servicing period as servicing fees. The carrying value of retained
interests is reviewed annually for impairment of an other than
temporary nature.
Premises and Equipment
Land is carried at cost. Buildings, furniture and equipment, and
leasehold improvements are carried at cost, less accumulated
amortization. Amortization is calculated using the straight-line
method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets
as follows:
Buildings
Leasehold improvements
Computer and telephone equipment
Furniture and other equipment
Computer software

40 to 50 years
Lease term plus
one renewal period
3 years
5 to 10 years
3 to 5 years

In the ordinary course of business, CCS enters into various derivative
contracts, including interest rate forwards, swaps, and options,
and equity swaps. Derivative contracts are either exchange-traded
contracts or negotiated over-the-counter contracts. CCS enters into
such contracts to manage its exposures to interest rate fluctuations
as part of CCS’s asset/liability management program.
Swaps, options, and forwards entered into for the purpose of
managing CCS’s interest rate exposures are accounted for on the
accrual basis. The income or expense is recognized over the term
of the agreement as an adjustment to interest income or expense.
Accrued interest receivable and deferred gains are recorded in
other assets and accrued interest payable and deferred losses are
recorded in other liabilities.
Income Taxes
CCS uses the asset-and-liability method of accounting for
income taxes. Future tax assets and liabilities are recognized for
the future tax consequences attributable to differences between
the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and
liabilities and their respective tax bases. Future tax assets and
liabilities are measured using enacted or substantively enacted tax
rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which
those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled.
The effect on future tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax
rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the date
of enactment or substantive enactment. A valuation allowance
is established to reduce future income tax assets to the amount
expected to be realized.
Future income tax assets or liabilities are included in other assets
or other liabilities, as applicable.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Comparative Figures
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform
with the current year’s financial statements.
Future Accounting Changes
Hedging Relationships
The Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants issued
Accounting Guideline 13 — Hedging Relationships, which is
effective January 1, 2004 for CCS. The guideline deals with the
identification, documentation, designation and effectiveness
of hedges. Accounting Guideline 13 requires derivatives to be
marked to market unless they meet the hedging criteria. For any
derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting, CCS will
record the fair value in the consolidated balance sheet and record
changes in the fair value in the consolidated statement of income.
Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities
The CICA issued Accounting Guideline 15 — Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities, which is expected to be effective

January 1, 2005 for CCS. The guideline, as presently worded is
expected to require CCS to identify variable interest entities
in which it has a variable interest, determine whether it is the
primary beneficiary of such entities and, if so, consolidate them.
Management has not yet completed a detailed analysis; however,
the adoption of this guideline is not expected to have significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
The CICA has issued guidance that establishes standards for
financial reporting in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP) effective January 1, 2004 for CCS.
It describes what constitutes Canadian GAAP and its sources.
Guidance is provided on sources to consult (“GAAP hierarchy”)
when selecting accounting policies and determining appropriate
disclosures, when a matter is not dealt with explicitly in primary
sources of GAAP. Management is currently assessing the impact
of this guidance on the consolidated financial statements.

2. CASH RESOURCES
2003

Cash
Short-term investments

$

Statutory deposits with CUCBC
Accrued interest
$
In accordance with provincial legislation and the terms of
arrangements with Credit Union Central of British Columbia
(CUCBC), credit unions are required to maintain deposits with
CUCBC totalling the lesser of 10% of their deposit and debt
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52,454
45,555

2002

$

44,366
97,960

98,009

142,326

137,155
2,515

111,636
2,026

237,679

$

255,988

liabilities or 1.5% of all British Columbia credit union assets.
Deposits with CUCBC earn interest at short-term market rates.
The long-term portion of CCS’s deposits with CUCBC is shown
in Note 6 and classified as investments.

3. LOANS
Residential
mortgages

2003
Loan principal
Accrued Interest

$

Total loans

1,123,911
4,367

$

1,128,278

1,892

5,659,546
15,202
5,674,748

15,274

23,303

$

488,574

$

1,113,004

$

5,651,445

$

10,897
10,276

$

660
465

$

14,568
13,295

$

26,125
24,036

621
5,516
$

6,137

195
1,697
$

Residential
mortgages

$

3,740,615
8,852

1,892

1,273
14,001
$

$

474,986
1,598

$

476,584

7,567

15,274

2,089
21,214
$

Commercial
mortgages
and loans

Personal
loans

3,749,467

Allowances for credit losses

1,091,303
4,795

Total

$

1,096,098

1,602

23,303

5,306,904
15,245
5,322,149

7,715

16,884

$

3,741,900

$

474,982

$

1,088,383

$

5,305,265

$

6,930
6,229

$

712
113

$

7,059
5,996

$

14,701
12,338

Specific allowances
General allowances
Total allowances for credit losses

490,466

6,137

Total loans

Impaired loans
Less amounts where loss not expected

$

4,049,867

2002
Loan principal
Accrued interest

488,917
1,549

Total

$

Specific allowances
General allowances
Total allowances for credit losses

$

4,056,004

Allowances for credit losses

Impaired loans
Less amounts where loss not expected

4,046,718
9,286

Commercial
mortgages
and loans

Personal
loans

701
6,866
$

7,567

599
1,003
$

1,602

1,063
6,652
$

7,715

2,363
14,521
$

16,884

Substantially, all of CCS’s loans are written on properties and
businesses located in the Lower Mainland, Fraser Valley, and
southern Vancouver Island regions of British Columbia.
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4. ALLOWANCES FOR CREDIT LOSSES
2003

Balance, beginning of year
Provision for credit losses
Allowances at date of acquisition of SMS (Note 24)

$

Balance, end of year

$

Percentage of total loans

As part of these transfers of mortgage receivables, CCS retains
servicing responsibilities. CCS does not receive an explicit
servicing fee for its servicing responsibilities. CCS’s retained
interests consist of its rights to future cash flows arising after
the investors have received the return for which they contracted
and credit enhancement provided to the third parties in the
form of cash collateral accounts. The third parties, as holders
of the securitized mortgages, have recourse only to a cash
collateral account and cash flow from the securitized mortgages.
The investors and the third parties have no recourse to CCS’s
other assets for failure of debtors to pay when due. CCS’s retained

Prepayment
Expected credit losses
Residual cash flows discounted at
Weighted average life (in years)
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$

25,821
3,352
834

Loans written off
Recoveries of loans written off

5. TRANSFERS OF MORTGAGE RECEIVABLES
As part of its program of liquidity, capital, and interest rate risk
management, CCS enters into arrangements to fund mortgage
growth by selling loans to unrelated third parties.

16,884
8,937
—

2002

23,303
0.41%

7,641
3,872
8,826
20,339
4,044
589

$

16,884
0.32%

interests are subject to credit, prepayment, and interest rate risks
on the securitized mortgages.
No gains were recognized on the securitization of residential
mortgages in 2003 (2002 – $3,752) while gains recognized on
commercial mortgages were $1,303 (2002 – $1,598), net of
the servicing liability of $200 (2002 – $1,734) recognized initially
on securitization. Servicing liabilities amortized to income during
the year amounted to $587 (2002 – $316). The fair value of
servicing liabilities amounted to $1,031 at December 31, 2003
(2002 – $1,418). The fair value of retained interests amounted
to $3,371 at December 31, 2003 (2002 – $5,568).
Key assumptions used in measuring the retained interests at the
date of securitization were as follows:

2003

2002

2003

2002

Residential
mortgages

Residential
mortgages

Commercial
mortgages

Commercial
mortgages

—
—
—
—

15.00%
0.13%
4.64%
4.46

7.00%
0.50%
3.86%
2.56

7.00%
0.50%
3.81%
2.77

5. TRANSFERS OF MORTGAGE RECEIVABLES (continued)
The following table summarizes quantitative information about
mortgages securitized by CCS as at December 31, 2003:
Total principal
amount of
mortgages

Type of loan

Principal amount
of loans over
60 days past due

Average
balances

Residential
Commercial

$

123,359
89,638

$

142
—

$

179,894
92,741

Total loans

$

212,997

$

142

$

272,635

$

33,136
26,259
49,794
102,499
1,309

$

212,997

CCS has no obligation to repurchase the mortgages sold through
securitizations. CCS has an option to reacquire securitized
mortgages immediately prior to the maturity dates. The securitized
mortgages will mature as follows:
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008 and subsequent years

2003

Conventional mortgages
Insured mortgages

Recourse for holders of conventional securitized mortgages

$

208,924
4,073

$

212,997

$

7,381

2002

$

306,122
16,200
322,322

$

7,075

6. INVESTMENTS
2003

Investments, CUCBC (Note 2)
Shares, CUCBC
Accrued interest
Other

2002

$

377,540
22,949
8,486
30,576

$

368,593
24,855
6,771
8,891

$

439,551

$

409,110

Shares in CUCBC are a required investment as a condition of
membership in CUCBC and provincial legislation and are carried
at cost. The amount of the share investment in CUCBC is
determined based on CCS’s membership and assets.
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7. PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT
Accumulated
amortization

Cost

Land
Buildings
Furniture and equipment
Leasehold improvements

2003
Net book value

2002
Net book value

$

4,007
16,663
48,129
18,865

$

—
7,141
27,741
10,053

$

4,007
9,522
20,388
8,812

$

5,479
12,050
20,557
5,841

$

87,664

$

44,935

$

42,729

$

43,927

Amortization in respect of the above buildings, furniture and
equipment, and leasehold improvements amounted to $11,510
(2002 – $8,717).

8. OTHER ASSETS
2003

Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Future income taxes (Note 17)
Goodwill
Other

2002

$

14,242
13,582
12,476
4,300
5,463

$

11,932
11,827
6,723
4,300
13,300

$

50,063

$

48,082

9. DEPOSITS
2003

Demand
Term
Registered plans
Class A membership shares
Class P non-equity shares
Accrued interest

Class A Membership Shares
Class A shares are a membership requirement and are
redeemable on demand upon cessation of membership and
accordingly are classified as deposits. These are voting shares
with a par value of $1.00 each. CCS has an unlimited number
of Class A shares authorized.
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2002

$

1,329,413
3,070,591
1,476,275
1,454
283
76,492

$

1,229,362
2,875,971
1,428,914
1,456
309
70,327

$

5,954,508

$

5,606,339

Class P Non-Equity Shares
Amounts contributed by members for Class P shares can be
withdrawn on demand or redeemed at any time by CCS and
accordingly are classified as deposits. These shares have a life
insurance component such that the shareholder’s estate is
paid double the value of the share upon death of the shareholder.
These shares do not participate in any annual dividend.

10. BORROWINGS
Maturity date

January 2, 2004
January 2, 2003
January 15, 2003
February 19, 2003

Borrowings are secured by a debenture in favour of CUCBC, which
creates a floating charge on the assets and undertakings of CCS
and an assignment of book debts. As at December 31, 2003, CCS

Interest rate %

3.17
3.30
3.10
3.15

2003

2002

$

80,000
—
—
—

$

—
6,000
45,000
80,000

$

80,000

$

131,000

has available lines of credit aggregating $205,500 at prevailing
market rates (2002 – $354,011). The borrowing was renewed on
January 2, 2004 at prevailing market rates.

11. OTHER LIABILITIES
2003

Accounts payable and accruals
Deferred fee income

Included within other liabilities are accrued transition costs.
Transition costs arising from the acquisition of SMS consist of
severance and employee training costs, professional services,
communications with members, staffing of an integration
team, and other expenses.

2002

$

56,595
20,246

$

61,701
12,300

$

76,841

$

74,001

At December 31, 2003, $7,512 (2002–$5,349) was accrued as a
liability for transition costs in the consolidated balance sheet.
During the year, $6,659 in cash payments were made and
$8,822 (2002 – $3,381) was expensed in transition costs on the
consolidated statement of income.

12. SUBORDINATED NOTES
The notes are unsecured and subordinated in right of payment to
the claims of depositors and certain other creditors. The interest
rates are calculated on a floating rate basis. CCS has an option to
convert to fixed-interest rates on 30 days’ written notice.
Maturity date

December 31, 2003
December 31, 2004
December 31, 2005
December 31, 2006
December 31, 2007
December 31, 2008
June 30, 2009

2003

2002

$

—
—
—
—
—
5,000
28,500

$

1,500
2,500
2,500
5,000
5,000
5,000
28,500

$

33,500

$

50,000
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13. CLASS C SHARES
2003

Issued and outstanding Class C shares
On May 6, 2003, CCS issued a Disclosure Statement regarding the
sale of Class C Shares – Series 1 at a price of $1.00 per Class C
share. These non-voting, non-transferable shares receive a
non-cumulative cash dividend equal to 6.00%.

$

39,355

2002

$

—

The shares are redeemable on June 27, 2009 at their par value
of $1.00 per share. The rights of claim of Class C shares ranks
after claims of the subordinated notes, depositors, and certain
other claims but rateably with holders of Class B shares.

14. CLASS B SHARES
Issued and outstanding Class B shares

2003

2002

Beginning of year
Shares issued in exchange with former SMS members
Share redemptions
Stock dividends

$

50,346
—
(1,509)
2,022

$

41,016
9,781
(2,316)
1,865

End of year

$

50,859

$

50,346

Class B shares are not a membership requirement. These shares
are nontransferable, noncumulative, retractable, and non-voting.
Redemption of Class B shares is subject to the discretion of
CCS. Terms and conditions, including dividends, are set at the
discretion of the Board of Directors. The dividend rate is a floating
rate, 4.27% (2002 – 5.06%), and set at one percent in excess of
CCS’s average posted five-year rate of interest on term deposits.

The preferred shares held by former SMS members that exceeded
the minimum required holdings were exchanged for CCS Class
B shares.
CCS has authorized six classes of equity shares. Each class is
authorized for an unlimited number of shares with a par value
of $1.00.

15. OTHER INCOME
2003

Mutual fund commissions
Account service charges
Loan processing fees
General insurance commissions, net
Creditor and life insurance commissions
Real estate commissions and service fees, net
Securitization income (Note 5)
Foreign exchange
Other
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2002

$

8,301
16,818
3,378
15,402
8,571
1,019
2,864
727
5,048

$

9,165
13,436
1,984
12,353
4,874
982
7,467
1,882
5,689

$

62,128

$

57,832

16. ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES
2003

Dues to CUCBC
Chequing service charges
Marketing
Capital taxes
Deposit insurance assessment
Bonding and other insurance
Professional and other services
Stationery, telephone, and postage
Community contributions
Write-down for impairment of investments
Patronage dividends
Sundry

2002

$

1,659
3,253
4,450
2,309
—
1,742
2,561
8,919
2,065
646
—
6,835

$

1,859
2,333
4,657
2,109
1,133
1,426
2,040
5,032
1,699
1,400
3,100
7,703

$

34,439

$

34,491

17. PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES
2003

Current income taxes
Future income taxes

2002

$

11,686
(5,753)

$

6,195
(2,238)

$

5,933

$

3,957

Amount

2002
% of pretax income

Income tax expense differs from the amount that would be
computed by applying the federal and provincial statutory income
tax rates of 37.6% (2002 – 39.6%) to income before income
taxes. The reasons for the differences are as follows:

Amount

2003
% of pretax income

Combined federal and provincial statutory income taxes
Reduction applicable to credit unions
Gains on disposal of assets
Change in estimate of tax rates and reversals
Other

$

16,329
(8,593)
(496)
(2,926)
1,619

37.6
(19.8)
(1.1)
(6.7)
3.7

$

11,796
(6,752)
—
(850)
(237)

39.6
(22.7)
—
(2.9)
(0.7)

Effective income tax rate

$

5,933

13.7

$

3,957

13.3
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17. PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES (continued)
The components of the future income tax asset, net are as follows:
2003

Transition costs
Allowance for credit losses
Deferred revenue/prepaid expense
Other

$

Future income tax asset, net (Note 8)

$

2,258
7,060
3,397
(239)
12,476

2002

$

1,378
3,763
1,465
117

$

6,723

$

6,852
5,716
4,494
3,420
2,710
5,503

18. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
a) Commitments
Lease Commitments
CCS occupies premises under long-term leases extending to 2017.
Aggregate basic annual lease payments are as follows:

2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
Subsequent years

Credit Instruments
CCS enters into various off-balance sheet commitments such as
letters of credit and loan commitments. These are not reflected
in the consolidated balance sheet. In the normal course of business,

many of these arrangements will expire or terminate without
being drawn upon, thus actual credit risk is expected to be less
than the amounts set forth. Details of these are as follows:
2003

Lines of credit unfunded
Letters of credit
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$

581,294
34,043

2002

$

643,366
22,557

18. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)
Guarantees
In February 2003, the CICA issued Accounting Guideline 14
“Disclosure of Guarantees” which requires additional disclosure
for interim and annual financial statements issued for periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2003.
Letters of Credit and Performance Guarantees CCS, as part of
its commercial lending services program, issues letters of credit
and guarantees. These are issued in the normal course of business.
CCS issues guarantees that commercial clients will perform certain
work or services on behalf of third parties. Additionally, CCS may
issue guarantees to facilitate commercial trade of goods and
services between clients and third parties. CCS’s policy for
requiring collateral security with respect to these instruments held
is generally the same as for loans. As at December 31, 2003, all
but $3,616 (2002 – $1,180) of the total letters of credit and
guarantees issued was secured by deposits by the borrower with
CCS. No amounts have been accrued for any estimated losses
under the obligations.

b) Contingencies
CCS is involved in various claims arising in the normal course of
business. In management’s opinion, adequate provisions for losses
have been recorded in the consolidated financial statements in
respect of claims issued in those situations in which the outcome
of the matter is considered reasonably determinable and estimable.
However, it is not possible at this time to determine the final
outcome of such claims.
19. INTEREST RATE SENSITIVITY POSITION
Interest rate risk results from differences in the maturities or
repricing dates of interest rate sensitive assets and liabilities,
both on and off the consolidated balance sheet. The resultant
mismatch or gap, to which is commonly referred, may produce
favourable or unfavourable variances on interest margins
depending on the direction of the gap, the direction of interest
rate movements, and/or the volatility of those interest rates. The
maturity or repricing profiles change daily in the ordinary course
of business as members select different terms of mortgages,
member loans, and deposits. See the tables on pages 50 and 51.

Information Technology Service
The former SMS contracted with Inventure Solutions Inc. (ISI)
as its main information system provider. CCS provided notice to
terminate this agreement; however, CCS expects to continue
obtaining information technology services from ISI for a period
ending no later than July 29, 2004.
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19. INTEREST RATE SENSITIVITY POSITION (continued)
Fixed-rate terms
2003

Variable
rate

0-3
months

4-6
months

7-12
months

1-3
years

3 years+

Assets
Cash and investments
Loans
Other assets

(1,069)
1,463,402
—

182,710
277,558
—

88,367
203,777
—

107,839
175,824
33,877
386,779 1,710,442 1,617,599
—
—
—

Asset yield

1,462,333
5.61%

460,268
4.38%

292,144
4.91%

494,618 1,886,266 1,651,476
4.98%
5.26%
5.30%

Liabilities
Deposits
Borrowings
Other liabilities

1,385,280
—
227

646,642
80,000
—

552,861 1,519,859 1,066,107
—
—
—
—
—
—

1,385,507

726,642

552,861 1,519,859 1,066,107

0.58%
33,500
—

2.92%
—
—

Total liability cost

1,419,007
0.69%

726,642
2.92%

Members’ equity
Class B shares
Retained earnings

50,859
—

—
—

Liability cost
Subordinated notes
Class C shares

50,859
Balance-sheet mismatch
Prepayment estimates
Loans
Deposits
Mismatch after
estimated prepayments

(7,533)
—
—
(7,533)

Derivatives
Assets
Liabilities
Net mismatch

Total

%

89,682
677,230
(8,112) 5,651,445
92,792
92,792

2.87
5.46
0.00

174,362
—

6,421,467

694,568
—
—

89,191
—
76,614

5,954,508
80,000
76,841

694,568

165,805

6,111,349

4.38%
—
—

4.68%
—
39,355

—
—
—

—
33,500
39,355

552,861 1,519,859 1,066,107
3.07%
2.98%
4.38%

733,923
4.68%

165,805

6,184,204

—
—

—
186,404

50,859
186,404

186,404

237,263

3.07%
—
—

2.98%
—
—

—
—

—
—

—

—

—
—
—

—

(266,374)

(260,717) (1,025,241)

820,159

917,553

124,802
(17,607)

124,802
(17,607)

249,603
(35,214)

(256,567)
42,645

(242,640)
27,783

(159,179)

(153,522)

(810,852)

606,237

702,696

5.11

(177,847)
—
—

—
—

(177,847)

3,250
366

2,937
13,450

170,000
41,645

—
—

—
—

249,545
249,545

—

(120,726)

2,884

(10,513)

128,355

—

—

—

(821,365)

734,592

702,696

(150,638)

2.81
5.21
6.00

0

73,358
194,084
(279,905)

2.81
3.17
0.01

2.82

—
—
(7,533)
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—

Non-interest
sensitive

(177,847)

—

3.52
3.36

19. INTEREST RATE SENSITIVITY POSITION (continued)
Fixed-rate terms
Variable
rate

0-3
months

4-6
months

3 years+

Non-interest
sensitive

Total

%

Assets
Cash and investments
Loans
Other assets

17,207
1,452,052
—

209,314
249,139
—

60,000
208,563
—

124,586
165,034
21,628
434,182 1,701,097 1,253,685
—
—
—

67,329
6,547
92,009

665,098
5,305,265
92,009

2.99
5.78
0.00

Asset yield

1,469,259
5.52%

458,453
4.25%

268,563
5.37%

558,768 1,866,131 1,275,313
5.30%
5.65%
5.96%

165,885

6,062,372

Liabilities
Deposits
Borrowings
Other liabilities

1,307,685
—
711

601,504
131,000
—

458,730 1,398,779 1,111,963
—
—
—
—
—
—

666,446
—
—

61,232
—
73,290

5,606,339
131,000
74,001

1,308,396

732,504

458,730 1,398,779 1,111,963

666,446

134,522

5,811,340

0.57%
50,000

2.86%
—

4.76%
—

4.84%
—

—

50,000

1,358,396
0.76%

732,504
2.86%

458,730 1,398,779 1,111,963
2.80%
2.84%
4.76%

666,446
4.84%

134,522

5,861,340

Total liability cost
Members’ equity
Class B shares
Retained earnings

50,346
—

—
—

—
—

—
150,686

50,346
150,686

150,686

201,032

2002

Liability cost
Subordinated notes

50,346
Balance-sheet mismatch
Prepayment estimates
Loans
Deposits
Mismatch after
estimated prepayments
Derivatives
Assets
Liabilities
Net mismatch

—
—
—

2.84%
—

—
—

—
—

5.38

—

—

(190,167)

(840,011)

754,168

608,867

—
—

110,805
(17,785)

110,804
(17,784)

221,609
(35,568)

(255,165)
44,479

(188,053)
26,658

60,517

(181,031)

(97,147)

(653,970)

543,482

447,472

—
—

213,259
163,080

15,000
33,784

54,447
81,251

62,568
67,159

—
—

—
—

345,274
345,274

—

50,179

(18,784)

(26,804)

(4,591)

—

—

—

(130,852)

(115,931)

(680,774)

538,891

447,472

2.88
3.14
0.01

2.85
5.72
2.88

(274,051)

In managing interest rate risk, CCS relies primarily upon its
contractual interest rate sensitivity position adjusted for certain
assumptions regarding customer behaviour preferences, which

—

1-3
years

60,517

60,517

—

2.80%
—

7-12
months

(119,323)
—
—
(119,323)

(119,323)

—
—
—
—
3.40
4.40

—

are based upon historical trends. Adjustments made include
assumptions relating to early repayment of loans and customer
preferences for demand, notice, and redeemable deposits.
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20. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS
The table below provides an analysis of CCS’s derivative portfolio
and related credit exposure:

Notional
amount

Current
replacement
cost

2003
Riskweighted
balance

Credit
equivalent
amount

Notional
amount

Current
replacement
cost

2002
Riskweighted
balance

Credit
equivalent
amount

Interest rate swaps
Securitization swaps
Equity swaps

$

235,000 $
10,876
3,669

2,338 $
87
—

3,513 $
142
18

703 $
28
4

240,000 $
84,371
20,903

2,446 $
1,432
34

3,646 $
1,854
138

Total derivatives

$

249,545

2,425

3,673

735

345,274

3,912

5,638

$

$

Notional amounts are the contract amounts used to calculate
the cash flows to be exchanged. They are a common measure of
volume of outstanding transactions, but do not represent credit
or market risk exposure. Notional amounts are not exchanged.
Current credit exposure is limited to the amount of loss that
CCS would suffer if every counterparty to which CCS was exposed
were to default at once, which is represented by the current
replacement cost of all outstanding contracts in a gain position.
Credit equivalent amount is the current replacement cost plus an
amount for future credit exposure associated with the potential
for future changes in interest rates. The future credit exposure is
calculated using a formula prescribed in the capital adequacy
guideline of the Province of British Columbia’s Superintendent of
Financial Institutions (the “Superintendent”).
Risk-weighted balance represents the regulatory capital required
to support CCS’s derivative activities. The credit equivalent
amounts are weighted according to the credit worthiness of the
counterparty using factors prescribed in the capital adequacy
guideline of the Superintendent.
Interest rate swaps are transactions in which two parties exchange
interest flows on a specified notional amount for a predetermined
period based on agreed-upon fixed and floating rates.
Securitization swaps are interest rate swaps with notional
principals that amortize as the outstanding principal of the
securitized mortgages decline.
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$

$

$

$

$

729
371
28
1,128

Equity swaps are transactions in which, CCS manages its exposure
to changes in the value of index-linked deposit products. Two
parties exchange cash flows on a specified notional amount for
a predetermined period based on the increase or decrease in
an underlying stock market index versus a fixed-interest rate.
Notional amounts are not exchanged.
21. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The table on page 53 represents the fair values of CCS’s financial
instruments, including derivatives. The fair values of financial
assets and liabilities with fixed-interest rates have been determined
using discounted cash flow techniques based on interest rates
being offered for similar types of assets and liabilities with
similar terms and risks as at the balance sheet date. The fair
value of financial assets and liabilities with floating rates of
interest is assumed to be equal to book value, as the interest
rates on these instruments automatically reprice to market rates.
Fair values of other financial assets and liabilities are assumed to
approximate their carrying values, principally due to their shortterm nature. Fair values of derivative financial instruments have
been based on market price quotations. No fair values
have been determined for capital assets, or any other asset or
liability that is not a financial instrument.
The undernoted fair values, presented for information only, reflect
conditions that existed only at the respective balance sheet
dates and do not necessarily reflect future value or the amounts
CCS might receive or pay if it were to dispose of any of its
financial instruments prior to their maturity.

21. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Book value

Assets:
Cash resources
Investments
Loans
Other

$

237,679
439,551
5,651,445
17,714

$ 6,346,389
Liabilities:
Deposits
Borrowings
Other
Subordinated notes
Class C Shares
Hedging derivatives

2003
Difference

Fair value

$

Book value

237,789
442,960
5,699,731
17,714

$

110
3,409
48,286
—

$

$ 6,398,194

$

51,805

$ 5,992,517

2002
Difference

Fair value

255,988 $ 256,044 $
409,110
412,418
5,305,265
5,367,748
22,154
22,154
$

65,847

$ 5,954,508 $ 6,008,867 $
80,000
80,000
50,168
50,168
33,500
33,500
39,355
39,339
—
337

54,359 $ 5,606,339 $ 5,652,875 $
—
131,000
131,074
—
59,262
59,262
—
50,000
50,000
(16)
—
—
337
—
463

46,536
74
—
—
—
463

$ 6,157,531

54,680

47,073

$ 6,212,211

22. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
At December 31, 2003, outstanding loans to directors, officers,
and employees totalled $109,696 (2002 – $90,510), which
included 721 mortgages totalling $89,541 and 2,477 other loans
totalling $20,155.
During the year, directors, in their capacity as directors, received
remuneration of $282 (2002 – $277).
During the year, in the normal course of business, CCS paid $95
for professional services to and received $64 in rental income
from a professional firm, of which a partner is a director of CCS.

$

$ 5,846,601

$ 6,058,364

56
3,308
62,483
—

$ 5,893,674

$

23. PENSION PLAN
CCS is a participating member of the B.C. Credit Union Employees’
Pension Plan, a contributory defined-benefit plan.
As at December 31, 2000 the plan actuary reported that the
plan had an excess of plan assets over actuarial liabilities for
accrued pension benefits. The plan actuary further reported
that no change needed to be made at that time to the current
level of employer contributions to the plan. The next actuarial
review is in the process of being completed for the period ended
December 31, 2003.
Pension expense included in the consolidated statements of
income was $1,134 (2002 – $869).
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24. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
On June 27, 2002, CCS committed to acquire all non-voting
shares of SMS for cash (Note 25). These shares were immediately
cancelled after acquisition. All membership shares of SMS
were exchanged for membership shares in CCS. As part of the
transaction, CCS acquired all of the assets and liabilities of
SMS. The business combination was accounted for using the
Assets acquired
Cash resources and investments
Loans
Premises and equipment
Other assets

purchase method. The results of SMS’s operations have been
included in the consolidated financial statements, effective
June 27, 2002.
The following table summarizes the consideration given and the
estimated fair values of SMS’s net assets acquired:

$

277,081
2,138,530
19,664
20,407

$

2,455,682

$

2,279,968
50,045
13,569

Total liabilities assumed

$

2,343,582

Fair value of net assets and consideration paid

$

112,100

Total assets
Liabilities assumed
Deposits
Borrowings
Other liabilities

On April 1, 2002, Coast Capital Insurance Services Ltd. (CCIS)
acquired 80% of the outstanding shares of Coast Capital General
Insurance Services Ltd (CCGIS). On October 1, 2002, CCIS acquired
100% of the outstanding shares of Wagner Newell & Associates
Inc. Both business combinations have been accounted for
using the purchase method. The fair value of assets acquired
was $2,192, assumed liabilities of $3,115. Total consideration
of $2,067 was paid in cash, and the excess purchase price of
$2,989 was attributed to goodwill.
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25. PURCHASE OF SMS NON-VOTING SHARES
Pursuant to the merger agreement with SMS, CCS is obligated
to purchase all SMS non-voting shares for $21 each. As at
December 31, 2003, Computershare Investor Services Inc. held
$10.3 million (2002 – $24.3 million) in trust for 490,783
non-tendered shares (2002 – 1,158,770); $10.1 million of
these funds are placed with CCS. As of June 27, 2008, any
unclaimed funds become the property of CCS.

